
Page 1 
 

 
COLFAX COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE SITING AND PERMITTING OF 
WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

 
WHEREAS Colfax County has determined that the regulation of the siting of wireless telecommunications 

facilities is necessary to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Colfax County; and 
 

WHEREAS Colfax County desires to minimize the negative impact Wireless Telecommunications 
Facilities may have on the citizens and real property use in Colfax County by promoting the use of existing Wireless 
Telecommunications Facilities and by ensuring new Wireless Telecommunications Facilities are compatible with 
the existing character and environment of the location of the Facility; and 
 

 WHEREAS Colfax County wishes to provide an efficient, stream-lined, and fair process for the review 
and approval of potential Wireless Telecommunications Facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NMSA 1978 §§ 3-21-1 through 26 and §§ 4-37-1 through 13, and the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996, §704, 47 U.S.C. §332(c)(7), § 6409(a) of the Middle-Class Tax Relief and Job 
Creation Act of 2012 and recognizing the enactment of the New Mexico Wireless Consumer Advanced 
Infrastructure Act NMSA 1978 §§63-9—1 through 19, the Board of County Commissioners of Colfax County is 
empowered to enact regulations regarding the location, placement, construction, appearance, design, and 
modification of Wireless Telecommunications Antennae, Towers and other Wireless Telecommunications 
Facilities on lands and properties within the County. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
COLFAX COUNTY, AS THE GOVERNING BODY OF COLFAX COUNTY, NEW MEXICO, THAT THE 
CONTENTS OF THIS ORDINANCE No. 2023-02 BE IMPLEMENTED REGULATING THE SITING 
AND PERMITTING OF WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATION FACILITIES: 

 
 

Section 1.  POLICY AND PROCEDURES 
 
I. PURPOSE AND INTENT: 
 

A. The purpose and intent of this Ordinance are to protect the health, safety, and welfare of 
the citizens of Colfax County by minimizing the negative impact of Wireless Telecommunications 
Facilities, by establishing a fair and efficient process for review and approval of applications per 
Federal, State, and Local Regulations, by encouraging the use of existing facilities, by promoting 
the improved appearance and functionality of any new facilities and ensuring that all new facilities 
are constructed using current technologies that are designed to conceal the site and to accommodate 
future growth.  
 

II. DEFINITIONS: 
 

A. Abandonment – cessation of use of a wireless support structure for wireless 
telecommunications activity for at least the minimum period specified by this Ordinance.  
 
B. Administrative Approval – approval that the Administrator or designee is authorized to 
give. 
 
C. Administrator – the County Administrator/Manager, or his/her designee.  
 



Page 2 
 

D. Applicant – a wireless provider, infrastructure owner, or their agent, who is an 
Applicant for a Wireless Telecommunications permit. 
 
E. Antenna – communications equipment that transmits, receives, or transmits and receives 
electromagnetic radio signals used in the provisions of wireless telecommunications services. 
 
F. Carrier on Wheels (COW) – a portable, self-contained wireless telecommunications 
facility that can be moved to a location and set up to provide wireless services on a temporary or 
emergency base.   
 
G. Colocation – placement or installation of wireless facilities on existing structures, including 
electrical transmission towers, water towers, buildings, and other structures capable of supporting 
wireless facilities' attachment in compliance with all applicable codes and standards. 
 
H. Concealed Wireless Facility – any wireless facility that is blended as an architectural 
feature of any existing structure or any new wireless support structure designed to camouflage or 
hide the presence of antennas or towers so that the purpose of the Facility or wireless support 
structure is not readily apparent to casual observation. 
 
I. Eligible Facility request – a request for modification or colocation of an existing wireless 
tower that involves new transmission equipment or replacement of transmission equipment but 
does not include a substantial change of the existing structure. 
 
J. Existing structure – a wireless support structure erected before the application for an 
eligible facility request, colocation, or modification under this Ordinance capable of supporting 
wireless facilities' attachment.  The term includes but is not limited to electrical transmission 
towers, buildings, and water towers.  The term shall not include any utility pole. 
 
K. Public Right-of-Way – an area of land owned or controlled by the County for the purposes 
of constructing, operating, and maintaining public facilities such as streets, alleys, sidewalks, bike 
paths, and landscaping for the needs of transportation, utilities, and other public infrastructure 
easements.  
 
L. Rigorous Structural Analysis – May assume the structure is properly constructed and 
maintained; used to determine the final acceptance of proposed changes; must determine the overall 
stability and adequacy of the structural members, foundations, and connection details; foundation 
analysis must be site-specific; assumptions about details that are not visible or cannot be discerned 
without extensive field testing is acceptable. 
 
 
M. Set-back – the area in which a wireless support structure may be expected to fall in the 
event of a structural failure as defined by the Ordinance. 

 
N. Small Wireless Facilities/Systems – One of several specialized systems that comprises 

mini-macro cells, Distributed Antenna Systems (DAS), or Wi-Fi Hot Spots specifically 
for outdoor coverage. Individual small cell sites typically cover a small radius (<2000'). 
However, they are used in conjunction with the "typical" cell sites or a group of other 
small cell sites, a system, to cover a broad area of dense usage requirements. 

 
O. Substantial Change - Substantial Change for Eligible Facilities Request means a 

modification that substantially changes the physical dimensions of an Eligible Support 
Structure if, after the modification, the structure meets any of the following criteria:   

 
1. For Towers, other than Alternative Tower Structures in the Right of-Way or 

other towers in the Right-of-Way, it increases the height of the Tower by more 



Page 3 
 

than 10 percent or by the height of one additional Antenna array, with 
separation from the nearest existing Antenna not to exceed 20 feet, whichever 
is greater. For other Eligible Support Structures, it increases the height of the 
structure by more than 10 percent, or more than 10 feet, whichever is greater. 

 
2. For Towers, other than Towers in the Right-of-Way, it involves adding an 

appurtenance to the body of the Tower that would protrude from the Tower 
more than 20 feet, or more than the width of the Tower structure at the level 
of the appurtenance, whichever is greater; for Eligible Support Structures, it 
involves adding an appurtenance to the body of the structure that would 
protrude from the side of the structure by more than six feet; 

 
3. For any Eligible Support Structure, it involves installation of more than the 

standard number of new equipment cabinets for the technology involved, but 
not to exceed four cabinets; or for Towers in the Right-of-Way and base 
stations, it involves installation of any new equipment cabinets on the ground, 
if there are no pre-existing ground cabinets associated with the structure, or 
else involves installation of ground cabinets that are more than 10 percent 
larger in height or overall volume than any other ground cabinets associated 
with the structure; 

 
4. For any Eligible Support Structure, it entails any excavation or deployment 

outside the current Site. 
 

5. For any Eligible Support Structure, it would defeat the concealment elements 
of the Eligible Support Structure. For the purposes of this subsection (K), a 
change which undermines the concealment elements of an Eligible Support 
Structure will be considered to defeat the concealment elements, or. 

 
6. For any Eligible Support Structure, it does not comply with conditions 

associated with the siting approval of the construction or modification of the 
Eligible Support Structure equipment, unless the non-compliance is due to an 
increase in height. increase in width, addition of cabinets, or new excavation 
that would not exceed the thresholds identified in paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) 
of this Definition. For purposes of determining whether a Substantial Change 
exists, changes in height are measured from the original support structure in 
cases where deployments are or will be separated horizontally, such as on 
buildings' rooftops; in other circumstances, changes in height are measured 
from the dimensions of the Tower or base station, inclusive of originally 
approved appurtenances and any modifications that were approved prior to 
February 22, 2012. 

 
P. Tower – a structure, guided or freestanding, that supports one or more antenna. 
 
Q. Wireless Facility or wireless telecommunication facilities – the set of equipment and 
network components exclusive of the underlying wireless support structure, including but not 
limited to antennas, accessory equipment, transmitters, receivers, base stations, power supplies, 
cabling, and associated equipment necessary to provide wireless telecommunications services. 
 

III. APPLICABILITY: 
 

A. This Ordinance applies to all construction and expansion of wireless telecommunications 



Page 4 
 

facilities, except as provided in III B Exemptions 
 
B. Exemptions: 
 

• Fire, police, department of transportation, or other public service facilities owned and 
operated by Colfax County, local, state, or federal government. 

 
• Any facilities expressly exempt from the jurisdiction's citing, building, and permitting 

authority.  
 
• Over-the-Air reception devices, including the reception antennas for direct broadcast 

satellites (DBS), multi-channel, multipoint distribution (wireless cable) providers 
(MMDS), television broadcast stations (TVBS), and other customer-end antennas that 
receive and transmit fixed wireless signals and are primarily used for reception.  

 
• Facilities exclusively for private, non-commercial radio and television reception and 

private citizen's bands, and other similar non-commercial telecommunications.  
 

• FCC-licensed amateur radio facilities require Administrative Approval and are exempt 
from all ordinance requirements except reasonable screening, set-back, placement, 
construction, tower height, and health and safety standards per New Mexico state law.  

 
• Facilities that exclusively provide unlicensed spread spectrum technologies (such as 

IEEE 802.11a/b/g/n/ac/ax {Wi-Fi and Bluetooth}) where the Facility does not require 
a new tower.  

 
All Wireless Facilities existing on the date of passage of the ordinance shall be allowed to 
continue their usage as they are presently approved. Routine maintenance shall be 
permitted on such existing Towers. 

 
 

IV. PERMIT APPLICATION PROCESS AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS: 
 

A. All Applicants for Special Use Permits and Conditional Special Use Permits shall comply 
with the requirements outlined in this Article. 
 
B. The Board of County Commissioners of Colfax County designates the Colfax County 
Manager as the Administrator to whom applications for Special Use Permits and Conditional 
Special Use Permits must be made.  The Administrator is authorized to review, analyze, evaluate, 
and make decisions with respect to granting, not granting, or revoking Permits.  
 
C. The Applicant shall complete the following steps to assist the Administrator in expediting 
the completion of the process: 
 

• Optional Pre-Application Conference:  At the Administrator’s discretion, applicants 
seeking a Telecommunications Permit will obtain and review this Ordinance and meet 
with the Administrator, either electronically or in person, before submitting an 
application.  Typically called for on more complex applications (new towers, 5G, etc.), 
the meeting intends to review the ordinance requirements, processes, and method of 
submission with the Applicant.  The pre-application session may include the following: 

 
a) A discussion of potential best locations for the Telecommunications 
Facility, taking into consideration Colfax County’s defined priorities that meet the 
Applicant's requirements for service. The application process may require an 



Page 5 
 

explanation for a selected location not using the highest priority available to the 
Applicant. Colfax County’s priorities (listed from highest to lowest) are:  
 

(1) On existing Towers or structures without increasing their height.  
(2) On existing Tower or structures with an increase in their height. 
(3) On Colfax County-owned properties.  
(4) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly 
by Industrial use.   
(5) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly 
by Commercial use.   
(6) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly 
by Agricultural use. 
(7) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly 
by Residential use. 
 

b) A discussion of issues to help expedite the review and permitting process.  
 
c) A site visit to potential best location sites, if deemed necessary by the 
Administrator.  
 
d) A determination of the type of application to be made. 
 
e) A discussion of the defined information required to support the proposed 
location. 
 
f) A discussion of the specific application requirements that are needed for 
review and consideration by the Administrator.  Requirements for the Application 
may vary based on the specific location, type of facility selected, and the potential 
impact to Colfax County and its citizens, and.  
 
g) Any applicant desiring relief, waiver, or exemption from any Ordinance 
requirement may request such at the pre-application meeting.  The burden of 
proving the need for the request lies solely with the Applicant. No request shall be 
approved unless the Applicant provides convincing evidence that the request will 
have no significant effect on the health, safety, and welfare of Colfax County or 
its residents. 
 

• Application Process:  The Applicant shall complete the on-line application processes 
as defined by the Administrator at the outset of the process. 

 
a) All applications shall contain a demonstration that the 
Telecommunications facility will be sited to be the least visually intrusive, as 
reasonably possible. 
 
b) In addition to demonstrating that the proposed modification, colocation, 
eligible facility, or new tower or telecommunications facility blends into the 
character and environment of the proposed location, all applications shall contain 
the following information and shall be submitted through the on-line system 
designated by Colfax County: 
 

(1) Registration of an Agent, including the name, address, and 
telephone numbers of the designated Agent and his/her company. 
(2) Authorization of the Agent as an official and representative of the 
Applicant; then pending approval. 
(3) Complete a project description which shall include a general 



Page 6 
 

description of the Applicant's project and its proposed physical location. 
(4) Contact information including the name, address, and telephone 
number of the person or entity who will be responsible for the Applicant's 
construction and management of the project. 
(5) Contact information for the support structure project manager for 
the proposed location and contact information for any manager of the real 
property for the proposed site (e.g., building manager, tower owner). 
(6) Define the type of project (colocation, modification, new tower, 
etc.), and the specific physical site address and description of the project.  
(7) Completing a Tower/Wireless Facility Registration or, if a 
Tower/Wireless Facility Registration already exists for the proposed 
location, completing a Tower/Wireless Facility Registration Update, if 
needed.  The Tower/Wireless Facility Registration shall be included. 
 

(a) Name, address, and telephone contact number for the tower 
owner.  
(b) Name, address, and telephone contact number for the real 
property owner, if different than tower owner. 
(c) Current number and identification of co-locators on the 
tower/facility. 
(d) Site name, number, and physical address. 
(e) Documentation and specifics regarding the agreement terms 
(other than financial) demonstrating Applicant's right, title, or 
interest in the real property where the facility is to be sited, 
including the name, address, and phone number of the property 
owner.  
(f) Description of the tower/facility, including but not limited to 
height, setback, type of structure, and the number of existing co-
locators. 
(g) Verifiable copy of the current tower inspection report using 
ANSI/TIA-222-G (or newer), including the expiration date, the 
company performing inspection, and ANSI standard used. 
(h) Contact information including name, address, and telephone 
number for the person or entity performing the most recent or 
current tower inspection. 
(i) A copy of the Soils Study Report including but not limited to 
the date completed, person or entity name performing the Soils 
Study, project number, identification of the Professional Engineer 
providing certification of the study with New Mexico registration 
or license number of the Professional Engineer, and. 
(j) Any other information deemed necessary or required by 
Colfax County. 
 

c) Applications for a modification, colocation, or eligible Facility to an 
existing structure, without an increase of height or size, shall include: 
 

(1) All items listed in Section b. above which do not exist or are no 
longer current or expired (inspection, lease, etc.).  
(2) Project name for the existing colocation site or project. 
(3) Names, addresses, and phone numbers of the person or entity 
preparing the application. 
(4) A copy of the FCC license for the carrier and a signed statement 
from the owner or operator of the Facility attesting that the Facility 
complies with current FCC regulations.  
(5) Certified Site Plans using ANSI/TIA-222-G (or newer), including 



Page 7 
 

the Professional Engineer's name and New Mexico registration/license 
number, physical description of the current configuration of the site, 
physical description of the proposed design of the site, contacts, set-backs, 
grounding plans, security, parking, turnarounds, description of the 
components including the sizes of the components to determine that the 
proposal is the least visibly intrusive design; 
(6) Certified Structural Analysis using ANSI/TIA-222-G (or newer), 
including identification of the Professional Engineer's name and 
registration/license number providing the Analysis, a copy of all 
calculations, reference documents and results, percent loading, that 
include all components, structures, and foundations per Rigorous 
Standards. Loading may not exceed 100%.  
(7) Performance Bond including amounts as set by Colfax County, to 
remain in place as long as the site remains active and in place and until the 
tower or facilities are removed as required by the Ordinance. 
(8) Copy of the Certificate of Insurance demonstrating the 
requirements of the Ordinance. 
(9) Identification of the general contractor(s) with proof of current 
Colfax County licensure as required by the State of New Mexico, and.  
(10) Projected start and completion dates of construction. 
 

d) Applications to install a new tower or telecommunications facility will 
include the following: 
 

(1) All information is listed in Sections b. and c. above. 
(2) The number, type, and design of the tower(s) and antenna(s) 
proposed. 
(3) All reports, data, calculation, and design criteria demonstrate the 
tower's capability to accommodate multiple users. 
(4) Demonstration of the Applicant's meaningful efforts to secure 
shared use of existing tower(s) or other structures within the defined 
parameter of one (1) mile including but not limited to copies of written 
requests and responses for shared use. 
(5) The new wireless Facility justification includes capacity 
information, the gap in coverage information, or other information 
demonstrating rationale for the application. 
(6) The Applicant will obtain a list of property owners and nearby 
homeowner associations, to include their addresses, within fifteen hundred 
(1500') of the proposed site's property lines. This list of owners and 
addresses must be submitted early in the application process so specific 
notice of any needed or required hearing can be given to them at least 7 
days prior to any needed or required hearing. 
(7)  Public Hearing and Notification Requirements: 

(a)  In order that the County may notify nearby 
landowners, prior to the approval of any Application for a 
Telecommunications Permit for a New Tower, a 
public hearing shall be held by the County, notice of 
which shall be published in accordance with the New Mexico 
Open Meetings Act, and the annual Colfax County Notice of 
Meetings Resolution, which sets the notice and type of publication 
for meetings, prior to the scheduled date of the public hearing. 
(b)  The County shall schedule the public hearing 
referred to in Subsection (a) of this section once it finds the 
application is complete. The County, at any stage prior to issuing 



Page 8 
 

a Telecommunications Permit, may require such additional 
information as it deems necessary. 
(c)  All Public Hearings pursuant to this Ordinance 
are to be held before the Board of County Commissioners of 
Colfax County unless specifically exempted by this Ordinance; 
and, for any appeal purposes, the decision of the Board of County 
Commissioners of Colfax County is the final decision of the 
County. 

 
e) Applications to Install Small Wireless Facilities/Systems will include 
the following: (Note: A special meeting with the agents/engineers/representatives 
of the Applicant may be needed to ensure that systems documentation 
requirements are fully understood.) Colfax County’s defined Small Wireless 
Facilities design requirements are made available to applicants by the 
Administrator in the Small Wireless Facility Design Guidelines Resolution. 

(1) All information listed in Sections b. c. & d. above. 
(2) The entire system and any associated groups of Small Wireless 
facilities, within limits defined by the on-line application, may be included 
in a single application process. 
(3) Each component of the system must be represented in the on-line 
Application Process.   
(4) Each system's unique components must be shown and include all 
the relevant data to complete the process.  However, all like (virtually 
identical) nodes may be demonstrated once but must consist of all the 
physical locations for each node.        
 

• Review of Application:  The Administrator or the county’s agent shall review the 
application within thirty (30) days of submission to determine if the application is 
complete and meets the Ordinance requirements.  Colfax County and the Applicant 
can, by a mutual written agreement, extend the period in which the review for 
completeness is conducted. 

 
a) Incomplete applications will not be accepted for further review and 
processing. 
b) Applications submitted without the payment of costs and fees as required 
by Colfax County are incomplete and shall not be accepted for further review and 
processing. 
c) IF THE APPLICATION IS NOT COMPLETE: 

Colfax County shall notify the Applicant in writing or via email of the 
provisions of the code, Ordinance, application process, or publicly stated 
procedures that were not completed and inform the Applicant that the 
application may be resubmitted. 

d) IF A RESUBMITTED APPLICATION IS NOT COMPLETE: 
Within ten (10) days of the resubmission of the application, Colfax County 
shall notify the Applicant in writing or via email of whether the 
resubmission is complete, and that the application may be resubmitted, and 
inform the Applicant of the code, Ordinance, application process or 
publicly stated procedures which remain incomplete. 

e) IF THE APPLICATION IS COMPLETE and based on the review of 
the application, the Administrator shall, within the periods allowed under federal, 
state, and local law: 
 

(1) Approve, approve with conditions, or deny a Special Use or 
Conditional Special Use Permit. 
(2) Issue a written decision within ten (10) days of deciding on the 



Page 9 
 

application, which is supported by evidence contained in the on-line 
information and records submitted by the Applicant. 
(3) Place the burden of proof for the granting of the Permit upon the 
Applicant. 
(4) Refer the application to the Board of County Commissioners of 
Colfax County for review and consideration; once a variance or waiver is 
obtained or granted, the Administrator may request the Applicant update 
the application if the Administrator deems it necessary to complete the 
application process. 

 
• Public Hearing and Appeal of Administrator's Decision:  The decision of the 

Administrator can be appealed by the Applicant or by Colfax County by submitting 
written notification to the Administrator. The Notice of Appeal's content shall contain 
the Applicant's name and a description of the Wireless Telecommunications 
Facilities.  The Applicant must submit the Notice of Appeal within 30 calendar days 
after the decision. 

a) The hearing or appeal will be heard and considered at the 
next available meeting of the Board of Commissioners 
b) For any application or appeal which is to be presented to the 
Board of County Commissioners of Colfax County, the County Administrator 

must have all documentation prior to the time of the meeting to ensure that all proper 
notices can be sent out in a timely matter. 
. 
• Construction of the Proposed Facility:  If an application is approved or approved with 

conditions, a Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit will be issued to the 
Applicant:   

 
a) The Applicant must comply with all requirements of the Special Use or 
Conditional Special Use Permit. 
b) The Applicant will be required to meet and satisfy all building inspection 
processes generally needed for a construction project.  
c) The Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit shall not be assigned, 
transferred, or conveyed without written notification to and approval from Colfax 
County within six (6) months. 
d) The Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit may be revoked, 
canceled, or terminated for violation of the Permit's conditions and provisions or 
for a material breach of this Ordinance as permitted by local Ordinance, state, and 
federal law. 
e) Colfax County will provide the permit holder written notice of an intent to 
revoke, cancel or terminate the Permit with identification of the violation(s) and 
give the holder of the Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit with an 
opportunity for a hearing before the Board of County Commissioners of Colfax 
County before revocation, cancellation, or termination.   
 

• Completion of Construction:  When the Applicant completes the project's construction, 
the Applicant shall notify the Administrator of the need for a final inspection. Colfax 
County or the Agent for Colfax County will verify that the site is constructed in 
accordance with the application, meets all the requirements of the Ordinance, and that 
the applicant has paid all monies due to Colfax County.  If all requirements of this 
Ordinance and the Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit have been met, 
Colfax County will issue a Certificate of Compliance to the Applicant that allows 
operational use of the site.  



Page 10 
 

 
 

V. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS OF WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
FACILITIES: 
 

A. Lighting:  Telecommunications facilities shall not be lighted or marked unless required by 
law.  If lighting is needed, Applicant shall provide a detailed plan for sufficient lighting as 
inoffensive as permissible under State and Federal regulations.  The Applicant shall also comply 
with any local or State "Night Skies" requirements. 
 
B. Materials:  Towers shall be galvanized or painted with a rust-preventive paint of an 
appropriate color to harmonize with the surroundings and shall be maintained for the Tower's life. 
 
C. Set-back Requirements: Stand-alone Wireless Telecommunications Facilities shall be no 
closer to any property line than the total height of the completed unit, plus ten percent (10%).  The 
structure should not be capable of falling onto an adjacent property or building should the Facility 
collapse for any reason.  The height is measured from the pre-existing grade to the highest point of 
the structure. 
 
D. Security of Wireless Telecommunications Facilities: All Wireless Telecommunications 
Facilities and Antennas shall be located, fenced, or otherwise secured in a manner that prevents 
unauthorized access.  

 
E. Signage: Telecommunications Facilities shall contain a sign to provide adequate 
notification to persons in the immediate area of the presence of RF radiation or to control exposure 
to RF radiation within a given area.  A sign of the same size shall also be installed to contain the 
site identification number and emergency phone number(s). The sign shall be on the fence, 
equipment shelter, or cabinet and be visible from an access point outside the secured site area.  On 
the tower sites, an FCC registration sign shall also be present. The signs shall not be lighted unless 
required by law, rule, or regulation. No other signage, including advertising, shall be permitted. 
 
F. Update of Signage:  The Applicant or future owner of the site shall update the site 
identification number and emergency phone numbers of the Wireless Telecommunications Facility 
as displayed on the required sign within one month of any sale, assignment, or transfer. 
 
G. Temporary Communications on Wheels (COW):  In the event of an emergency or natural 
disaster which renders other forms of communication nonviable, thus necessitating a COW, Colfax 
County and the Telecommunications provider shall agree to special terms and conditions as needed 
by Colfax County and the Telecommunications provider: 
 

• If a COW becomes inoperable due to force majeure or Acts of God, it must be removed 
from the site within 30 days of becoming unusable.  

• Regarding a special event where a COW is used, it must be removed from the site 
within 48 hours of the conclusion of the event. 

 
VI. APPLICATION FEES and OTHER REQUIREMENTS: 
 

A. At the time a person applies for a Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit for a new 
Tower or requires an increase in height to an existing Tower or for colocating on an existing Tower 
or other suitable structure, where no increase will occur in the height of the Tower or other 
appropriate structure, such Applicant shall pay a non-refundable application fee to Colfax County. 
 
B.  In addition to the application fee, Colfax County may retain the services of an expert agent 
in connection with the processing and/or review of the application and the permitting and final 



Page 11 
 

inspection of site.  The Applicant shall be responsible for reimbursing Colfax County for all costs 
and amounts incurred by Colfax County for such expert agents.   
 
C. The Applicant shall pay for the projected agent costs to Colfax County, or its agent, at the 
time of the application. 
 
D. An application is incomplete until the Application Fee is paid, and the Applicant has paid 
the costs for the expert agents.   
 
E. The county’s agent shall provide Colfax County with an invoice for the costs of the 
services.  The amount invoiced by the county’s agent will be assessed to the Applicant as the 
Application Processing and Review Fee.  

 
F. The Application Fees and Costs are defined by the Notice of Fees Resolution associated 
with this Ordinance; adopted, amended, or replaced from time to time as the County Commission 
determines.  
 
G. The Applicant, Colfax County, and the county’s agent will comply with all state and local 
requirements concerning payment of the county agent’s fees. 
 
H. The Applicant and the owner of record of any proposed Wireless Telecommunications 
Facilities property site shall, at their cost and expense, be jointly required to execute and file with 
Colfax County a bond, or other form of security acceptable to Colfax County in at least the 
following amounts: 
 

• Colocation or modification of an existing tower:  $25,000 
• Small wireless facility:  $15,000 
• New tower or other structure: $75,000 

  
 
Such sureties are deemed sufficient by Colfax County to assure the faithful performance of the 
terms and conditions of this Ordinance and conditions of any Telecommunications Permit or 
Conditional Use Permit issued according to this Ordinance. The full amount of the bond or security 
shall remain in full force and effect throughout the term of the Telecommunications Permit, and 
any Conditional Use Permit has been fulfilled, and until any necessary site restoration is completed 
to restore the site to a condition comparable to that which existed before the issuance of the original 
Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit.   

  
I. A holder of a Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit shall secure and at all times 
maintain public liability insurance for personal injuries, death, and property damage and umbrella 
insurance coverage for the duration of the Permit in amounts as set forth below: 
 

• Commercial General Liability covering personal injuries, death, and property damage: 
$1,000,000.00 per occurrence/$2,000,000.00 aggregate. 

• Automobile Coverage: $1,000,000.00 per occurrence/$2,000,000.00 aggregate. 
• Workers Compensation and Disability: Amount required by New Mexico state law. 
• Commercial General liability insurance policy shall specifically include Colfax County 

and its officers, employees, agents, and agents as additional named insureds. 
• Insurance policies shall be issued by an agent or representative of an insurance 

company licensed to do business in the state and with a "Best's" rating of at least A. 
• Insurance policies shall contain an endorsement obligating the insurance company to 

furnish Colfax County with at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of the 
cancellation of the insurance. 

• Renewal or replacement policies or certificates shall be delivered to Colfax County at 



Page 12 
 

least fifteen (15) days before the expiration of the insurance that such policies are to 
renew or replace. 

• The Permit Holder shall provide Colfax County with a copy of the policies/certificates 
before construction and upon written request by Colfax County. 

 
VII. REMOVAL OF TOWER/ANTENNA/REVOCATION/DEFAULT: 
 

A. Cessation of Operations/Abandonment/Disrepair:  Colfax County may require the removal 
of a Telecommunications Facility(ies) when: such item(s) with a permit have been abandoned or 
operations of Telecommunications Facility has ceased for a period exceeding ninety (90) 
consecutive days or a total of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days.  All items and equipment 
subject to the Telecommunications Permit shall be removed within ninety (90) days of 
abandonment or the cessation of operations.  If equipment or items subject to the 
Telecommunications Permit, fall into such disrepair that a health or safety hazard is created as 
determined according to a review by a State licensed engineer and such item are not repaired within 
sixty (60) days, or longer as necessary upon the permit holder demonstrating that despite good faith 
efforts, such disrepair could not be responsibly cured within the provided time, Colfax County may 
require the removal of the item of the Telecommunications Facility.   
 
B. Modification, location, or construction without Permit:  If any equipment or item has been 
located, constructed, or modified without a permit, or in a manner inconsistent with the approved 
permit requirements, and the Facilities have been located, constructed, or modified without first 
obtaining, or in a way not authorized by the required Permit or any other necessary authorization, 
Colfax County may require the removal of the item, equipment or the Telecommunications Facility. 
 
C. Lack of Insurance:  If a Permit holder has failed to comply with the liability insurance 
requirements required by Colfax County, Colfax County may require the removal of the item, 
equipment, or the Telecommunications Facility. 
 
D. Notification of Violation: If Telecommunications Facilities are repaired, rebuilt, placed, 
moved, relocated, modified, or maintained in a way not in compliance with this Ordinance or the 
Telecommunication Permit or the Conditional Use Permit, Colfax County shall notify the Permit 
holder in writing of such violation.  If the makes such a determination that removal of an item, 
equipment or Telecommunications Facility is required, then Colfax County shall notify the Permit 
holder within forty-eight (48) hours that said items are to be removed.  Colfax County may approve 
an interim temporary use agreement/permit, such as to enable the removal and/or sale of the item. 
 
E. Failure to Cure:  After receiving notice of a violation, the permit holder shall have ninety 
(90) calendar days to cure or remove the violation. Colfax County shall extend such cure period as 
necessary upon the Permit holder demonstrating that despite good faith efforts, such default cannot 
be reasonably cured. 
 
F. Failure to Cure (Removal of an item, equipment, or Telecommunications Facility is not 
required): For all violations other than a violation which requires removal of an item, equipment, 
or Telecommunications Facility, a Permit holder has thirty (30) days to cure such violation(s) after 
notice has been mailed or delivered to the Permit holder's address of record.  Colfax County may 
extend the cure period upon demonstration that the Permit holder has made good faith efforts to 
cure and that despite its good faith efforts, such default cannot be reasonably cured within the 
provided time. 
 
G. Failure to Cure (Removal of the item, equipment, or (Telecommunications Facility is 
required): If the permit holder cannot cure the violation that involves removal of an item, 
equipment, or Telecommunications Facility within the cure period, the permit holder shall 
dismantle and remove such item, and any associated structures, from the site and restore the site to 
as close to its original condition as possible, reasonable wear and tear excepted, within ninety (90) 



Page 13 
 

days of the expiration of the cure period. 
 
H. Removal by Colfax County:  If the item, equipment, or Telecommunications Facility is not 
removed or substantial progress has not been made to remove it within ninety (90) days of the 
permit holder receiving notice, then Colfax County may order officials or representatives of Colfax 
County to remove the item at the sole expense of the owner or Permit holder. 
 
I. Sale upon Abandonment:  If Colfax County removes or causes to be removed the item, and 
the owner does not claim and remove it from the site to a lawful location within one hundred twenty 
(120) days, then Colfax County may take steps to declare the item abandoned and sell it and its 
components.   
 
J. Temporary Use Permit/Agreement:  Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the 
contrary, Colfax County may approve an interim use permit/agreement for the item for no more 
than ninety (90) days, during which time a suitable plan for removal, conversion or re-location of 
the affected item shall be developed by the holder of the Permit, subject to the approval of Colfax 
County, and an agreement to such plan shall be executed by the holder of the Permit and Colfax 
County.  In the case that such a plan is not developed, approved, and completed within the ninety 
(90) daytime period, Colfax County may take possession of and dispose of the affected item in the 
manner provided in this Section.  
 
K. Emergency Removal:  If Colfax County determines the item is hazardous, creates an 
emergency situation, or adversely affects public safety, Colfax County may remove or cause to be 
removed the item after three (3) days written notice to the Permit holder or the holder of the 
Certificate of Compliance.  
 
L. Failure to Cure: A Permit holder still in violation after the expiration of the cure period 
may be considered in default, subject to fines as outlined in this Ordinance, and the Permit is subject 
to revocation.  
 
M. Fines:  A Permit holder who violates this Ordinance may be fined up to $500 for each 
violation, and each day that a violation exists shall be deemed to be a separate violation.   
 
  

 
Section 2.  SAVINGS CLAUSE 
If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this Ordinance for any reason shall be held to be invalid or 
unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such Section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect 
any other part of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 3.  CODIFICATION OF AMENDMENTS 
The codifier of the County is hereby authorized to make such numerical, grammatical, and formatting changes as 
may be necessary to incorporate the provisions of this Ordinance within the Code. 
 
 
 
 
 
PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ______________, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 14 
 

 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
COLFAX COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

 
 
 
    ____________________________________ 
    Si Trujillo, Chairman 
 
 
 
    ____________________________________ 
    Mary Lou Kern, Vice Chairman 
 
 
 
    ____________________________________ 
    Bret Wier, Commissioner 
 
 
 
    

ATTEST:        
 
 

By: _________________________  
       Rayetta M. Trujillo, County Clerk       
        
 
 
        ___________________________ 
       Monte Gore, County Manager 
 
 
                                                
 



 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 
          Notice 

             Public Hearing 
 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Colfax County 
Commissioners will be Discussing Colfax County Ordinance # 2023-02, 
An Ordinance Regulating the Siting and Permitting of Wireless 
Telecommunication Facilities. In the 3rd Floor Commission Chambers, of 
the Colfax County Building on Tuesday, November 14, 2023, at 8:45 am. 

 
 

Done this 7th day of November 2023 
 



 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 
SPECIAL MEETING 

November 14, 2023 
AGENDA 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Colfax County Board of 
Commissioners will meet in Special Session on Tuesday, November 14, 2023, at 8:30 
A.M.in the Commission Chambers, 3rd floor at the Colfax County Building, Raton, 
NM for the following: 

 
This agenda can be viewed at the Colfax County Website at 
www.co.colfax.nm.us 
 

1. Call to Order 
2. Discuss/Approve – Canvas 2023 Regular Local Election Results 
3. Adjourn 

 
                            Done this 7th day of November 2023 

 

http://www.co.colfax.nm.us/


 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
     REGULAR MEETING 

      November 14, 2023 
      AGENDA 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Colfax County Board of 
Commissioners will meet in Regular Session on Tuesday, November 14, 
2023, at 9:00 A.M., in the Commission Chambers, 3rd Floor at the Colfax 
County Building, Raton, NM for the following: 

 
This agenda can be viewed at the Colfax County Website at  
www.co.colfax.nm.us 

 
 

1. Call to Order 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Salute to the New Mexico Flag 
4. Approve Agenda 
5. Approve Regular Meeting Minutes for October 24, 2023 
6. Recognize Visitors 
7. Public Comment 
8. Readdressing Proclamation in Support of The New Mexico Practitioner 

Council Celebrating National Nurse Practitioner Week, November 12-
18, 2023, and the Valuable Contributions Nurse Practitioners Make 
Every Day Serving the Citizens of New Mexico 

9. Discuss/Action – Approve Expenditures  
10. Discuss/Action - Approve Expenditures Pursuant to Resolution #2022-49 
11. Discuss/Action – Indigent Care Claims 
12. Discuss/Action – Letter of Support, Ramel Family Farms, Kayvan S.T. 

Khalatbari 
13. Discuss/Action – Claim of Exemption # 5, Edward and Georgia Bell, 

Billy Ray and Karen Floyd, Wesley and Debbie Floyd, Edmund Otis and 
Dixie Floyd, Doris and Ronnie Gustin, Hugh and Shawna Floyd 

14. Discuss/Action- Resolution 2023-39, First Amendment to Local 
Government Road Fund Cooperative Agreement, Contract D19403, 
Control # L400578 

15. Discuss/Action-Acceptance, First Amendment to Local Government 
Road Fund Cooperative Agreement, Contract D19403, Control # 
L400578 

http://www.co.colfax.nm.us/


 

Page 2 of 2 
 

   

16. Discuss/Action-Resolution 2023-40, First Amendment to Local 
Government Road Fund, Contract D19404, Control # L400592 

17. Discuss/Action-Acceptance, First Amendment to Local Government 
Road Fund, Contract D19404, Control # L400592 

18. Discuss/Action – Task Order # 4, Molzen-Corbin Engineering Services, 
Blosser Gap Bridge Replacement 

19. Discuss/Action – Amendment to Vigil Maldonado Detention Center 
Detainee Handbook, Addendum 1 

20. Discuss/Action – Lodgers Tax Promotional Funding, Phillips 
Broadcasting, Radio Advertising  

21. Discuss/Action – Letter of Interest for the Department of Transportation 
FY 2023 Thriving Communities Program as a Partner Organization to 
the City of Raton 

22. Managers’ Docket 
23. Commissioners’ Docket 
24. Vigil Maldonado Detention Center Annual Inspection 
25. Adjourn 

 
 

                   Done this 7th day of November 2023 
 

 
Salute to the New Mexico Flag – “I salute the flag of the State of New Mexico 
and the Zia Symbol of perfect friendship among united cultures”.   



















ADDENDUM 1 
 

 
 

 

VIGIL MALDONADO DETENTION CENTER 
DETAINEE HANDBOOK 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
We provide the handbook to all offenders housed in the Detention Center. It will help you 
understand how the Detention Center operates and what we expect of you. You are expected to 
obey the rules in the handbook and cooperate with Detention Center Staff. The handbook is the 
property of the Detention Center, and you are expected to return it when released from custody. 



Please feel free to ask any Detention Center Officer if you have questions about the handbook. 
Destruction or defacing of the handbook is considered a rule violation, and a replacement cost of 
$10.00 will be subtracted from your detainee cash account. 

I. PREA (Prison Rape Elimination Act). 

The Vigil Maldonado Detention Center has a ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY for sexual 
misconduct involving offenders. It is the policy of this facility to provide a safe, humane, 
and secure environment, free from sexual abuse, misconduct, harassment, or retaliation. 
Sexual misconduct between staff and offenders, volunteers or contract personnel and 
offenders, or between two or more offenders regardless of consensual status is prohibited 
and subject to administrative discipline or criminal sanctions. 

Statue 30-9-11 NMSA 1978 makes it a second-degree felony for a staff member to have sex with 
an offender and is punishable with up to 18 years in prison. 

Further, there is a federal law against sexual abuse inside correctional facilities called the Prison 
Rape Elimination Act (PREA) that applies to staff-offender as well as offender-offender sexual 
relationships. 

Sexual activity and sexual abuse between detainees and staff or between detainees are against 
our institutional policy. Our zero-tolerance policy places a duty on staff and detainees to report 
any and all sexual abuse within the facility. It also commits the facility to taking reports of sexual 
abuse seriously, and to investigating and punishing sexual abuse. It is also our policy to refer 
substantiated cases for prosecution. 

Victims of sexual abuse may be taken to an outside hospital for a medical forensic examination 
to collect evidence. You also have the right to refuse the examination. Victims also have access 
to facility medical and mental health services. Medical forensic examinations by an outside 
hospital, and facility medical and mental health services are provided without charge. 

Both PREA and facility policy prohibit retaliation against those who report sexual abuse. 
Institutional policy requires both staff and detainees who witness or hear a report of sexual abuse 
to report it. Hiding or suppressing evidence of a crime could constitute tampering with evidence 
and may result in disciplinary action or prosecution. 

The term “sexual abuse” means: 

“Subjecting another person to any sexual act or contact by force, persuasion, or enticement, 
subjecting another person who is incapable of giving consent by reason of their custodial status, 
physical or mental state to sexual contact or rape or molestation. Prostitution or other forms of 
sexual exploitation”.                                                                                                                       

The term “sexual contact” means:                                                                                      

“Intentionally touching or physical contact in a sexual manner, either directly or through the 
clothing, of the genitalia, anus, groin, breast, inner thigh, buttocks with or without the consent of 



the person, or any touching or inappropriate viewing with the intent to arouse, humiliate, harass, 
degrade or gratify the sexual desire of any person”. 

The term “sexual harassment” means: 

“Sexual advances, sexually offensive language. Comment or gestures, influencing, promising, or 
threatening any detainee’s or staff’s safety, custody status, privacy, housing privileges, or 
program status in exchange for personal gain or favors of a sexual nature; creating or 
encouraging an atmosphere of intimidation, hostility, offensiveness as perceived by any 
individual who observed the sexually offensive language or behavior. 

Vigil Maldonado Detention Center has a ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY for sexual 
harassment involving offenders. 

Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. Unwanted sexual advances. 

2. Requests for sexual favors and other verbal or physical contact of a sexual nature. 

3. Indecent exposure. 

4. Placing or showing sexually explicit pictures, cartoons, or drawings where they may be visible 
to any person, who may be offended. 

To report sexual abuse, sexual harassment or retaliation a victim or witness can: 

Write directly to the Warden or PREA Coordinator, file a grievance, speak with any member of 
the facility staff, disclose the abuse to the medical or mental health provider, call the Taos 
Community Against Violence 575-758-8082, Call the Sexual Assault Support Services “SASS” 
at 1-866-750-6474. Call Alternatives to Violence at 575-445-5778 or write to 124 Pecos Ave, Raton 
NM 87740, or have a family member or friend report it to the facility or the Colfax County 
Sheriff Office. 

(Note: All calls are subject to monitoring) 

Vigil Maldonado Detention Center will provide detainees solely being held for immigration 
purposes information on how to contact relevant consular officials and relevant officials of the 
Department of Homeland Security: 

The DHS OIG may be reached at 1-800-323-8603 or: 
Office of Inspector General/MAIL STOP 0305 
Department of Homeland Security 
245 Murray Lane SW 
Washington, DC 20528-0305 

The DRIL may be reached at 888-351-4024 or by having third parties complete a form 
at https://www.ice.gov/webform/ero-contact-form 

These matters are taken very seriously. Making false accusations or reports against 
another detainee, staff or volunteer is a major rule violation. All reports will be taken 

https://www.ice.gov/webform/ero-contact-form


seriously and investigated by facility staff or an outside entity. False accusations can lead to 
loss of privileges as well as prosecution. 

For more detailed information, please refer to the PREA Orientation Manual that was provided 
to you during the booking process. 

 

 

II. VMDC OFFENDER POLICIES 

 

ADDRESSING DETENTION OFFICERS                                                                          

Detainees will address Detention Officers with respect at all times, using such terms as “Sir or 
Ma’am”, “Officer” or Officer (Last Name); or in the case of civilian Officers, “Mr. or “Ms”, 
followed by their last name. Detention Officers will address detainees in a similarly respectful 
manner. 

OFFENDER RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES 

A RIGHT-is something to which you are entitled . Law generally determines rights subject to 
the VMDC policies and state laws. 

Rights include: 

1. Access to courts and counsel, 

2. Access to legal material, 

3. Access to personal correspondence (subject only to the limitations necessary to maintain order 
and security). 

4. Access to foreign diplomatic representative, 

5. Performance of religious practices, 

6. Protection from discrimination and harm, 

7. Freedom from sexual abuse and physical harm, 

8. Documentation of detainee grievances and, 

9. Performance of general personal grooming. 

10. Pencils will be issued Seven days a week, from the hours of 8:00am to 4:00pm you must 
return the pencil. Failure to do so will result in a disciplinary action. 

A PRIVILEGE -is a benefit granted by the Detention Center that is subject to loss based on 
poor discipline, security risk, or emergency situations. Privileges vary between security levels. 



 

DETAINEE RESPONSIBILITIES: 

You are expected to: 

1. Follow Detention Officers orders or requests. 

2. Respect Detention Center property and the property of others 

3. Maintain your bed, cell, dayroom, and other detainee spaces in a clean, orderly, and sanitary                                                     
manner.                                                                                                                                                                                   

4. Comply with “VMDC’s” “ZERO TOLERANCE” for sexual abuse or sexual harassment 
policy. 

5. Comply with “VMDC’S” policies regarding drugs, weapons, alcohol, and contraband.   

 

CLASSIFICATION: 

Detainees are assigned to housing areas based on an Objective Jail Classification System, which 
uses a point system. You accumulate points for: 

1. Current Charges. 

2. Most serious prior charges. 

3. Escape History. 

4. Past and present Detention Center behavior. 

5. Prior felony convictions. 

6. Alcohol or Drug abuse 

7. Age. 

8. Employment. 

9. Schooling and. 

10. How long you have lived at your current home address 

 

Classification will occur within the first 22 hours you are in custody. While in holding you may 
be given the opportunity to shower daily and receive two hours of out of cell recreation time. 

From time to time, you may be reclassified. Classification may change due to: 

1. Changes in your behavior,                                                                                                        

2. Additional or change in charges,                                                                                             



3. Length of time in the facility, 

4. Inability to live with others, as well as 

5. Other determining factors, 

You may appeal your classification to the Classification Specialist by completing a Detainee 
Request Form. 

RESTRICTIVE HOUSING  

If you are a danger to others, in danger of others, or a threat to the safety and security of the 
Detention Center, you may be placed in Special Management. Upon being placed in Special 
Management, your status will be reviewed every 7 (seven) days for the first 60 (sixty) days and 
then every 30 (thirty) days following. A meeting will be held with the Classification Specialist to 
review your status. 

VOLUNTARY RELOCATION 

If there are other detainees whom you need separation from, you may request relocation.  This is 
done by speaking with a Detention Officer about your concerns and completing a Detainee 
Request Form. If you are in immediate danger, notify a detention officer at once. 

You should detail whom you need to be separated from, and the reason we cannot house you 
with that person. 

You may be relocated if we decide that you require it. Although Relocation is not considered 
punitive, we will generally house you in Restrictive Housing, unless it is full to capacity. If it is 
full, a supervisor will decide where you are to be housed while waiting for an opening in 
Restrictive Housing. You will be subject to Restrictive Housing rules.  

FEMALE OFFENDERS 

Female offenders will be housed in the Women’s Pod. The Women’s Pod contains Restrictive 
Housing, Holds and general female housing. There may be an occasion to house female 
offenders in Booking or medical if the need arises. 

COURTESY HOLDS 

Occasionally, prisoner exchanges occur with other detention centers for various reasons, it is 
possible that we could transfer you to another detention center. We would expect you to do so 
without argument. 

HOUSING 

After you are classified, you will be moved to one of the seven Detention Center pods. The four 
pods are Men’s Pod’s (D, E) are General Population, (C) is Disciplinary, and (F) is Restrictive 
Housing.  (A1) is Women’s Restrictive Housing and (A-2) Women’s Disciplinary, (B)-Pod 
Women’s General Population. The following is information and important rules you need to be 
aware of and abide by.  Depending upon facility population, pod assignments may vary.  



1. All housing will have access to a dayroom during the day. The Dayroom will not be accessed 
during routine lockdowns, detainee counts, maintenance work, nightly lockdown, emergency 
situations or when staff believes a lockdown is necessary. 

2. Restrictive Housing detainees will have the same privileges as general population when 
allowable and the maximum out of cell time available. This will be managed with a lockdown 
schedule. Each detainee is responsible for cleaning their cell areas along with cleaning the 
dayroom. While you are not in lockdown you will have access to the dayroom and showers. At 
no time will any person in lockdown be in a cell for over 22 hours. Yard time will be offered to 
each detainee in Restrictive Housing every day separate from out of cell time. Restrictive 
Housing detainees will have their status evaluated within the first 48-120 hours. 

3. If assigned to general population, you will be assigned a specific bunk. The assigned bunk is 
the only bunk you will use. Using a bunk or moving to a bunk that is not assigned is a violation. 

4. When the count is announced detainees must return to their bunk immediately and stay by 
until count is conducted and cleared. 

5.  In the event of an incident within your housing unit if you are directed to go to your bunks, 
you must immediately go to your bunk and get in your bunk. 

6. You are required to make your bed before exiting your cell at the hours of 8:00 a.m. or any 
time exiting the cell.  

7.  Your time may be assigned at the discretion of the Warden.  

RULES OF DISCIPLINE 

Rules will be used to keep the Detention Center safe, secure, and healthy. They provide for fair 
and honest care of detainees. You will be held accountable for your own behavior. If you do not 
obey the rules, you may be restricted to your cell for up to 24 hours, moved to the disciplinary 
housing unit, loss of “good time” or we may take some privileges away from you. Rules are 
subject to change at any time with verbal or written notice. 

If you coerce another detainee into violating a rule, it is the same as you, yourself committing the 
violation. Some violations may result in criminal charges and disciplinary action. If you violate 
three or more minor rules it may be deemed as a major rule violation. 

A Detention Officer may send a detainee to their cell or bunk for a 2-hour cooling off period. 
This will not be considered discipline and is not subject to consent or grievance. 

CONSENT TO IMMEDIATE DISCIPLINE 

Upon being accused of a rule violation for which the Detention Officer does not utilize the 2-
hour cooling off period, a Detention Officer may issue you with a warning, or start the 
Disciplinary Process. You will be informed in writing of the violations against you. At this time, 
you will be given the option to consent to immediate disciplinary sanctions or request a 
disciplinary hearing. Immediate disciplinary sanctions are, most likely, less severe than you 
would receive in a disciplinary hearing, if you were found guilty. 



If you request a disciplinary hearing, the shift Supervisor or Detention Sergeant will review your 
charges. If the shift Supervisor or Detention Sergeant determines that a disciplinary hearing is 
not appropriate, the shift Supervisor or Detention Sergeant can impose one or more of the 
following sanctions: 

1. One to five days of lockdown 

2. One of fifteen days of loss of privileges 

You have the right to a formal appeal sanction at this time for violations of your civil rights 
during the disciplinary process. If you feel that the charges did not reflect the event that took 
place, or the sanctions are not comparable with the violations. 

 

FORMAL DISCPLINARY PROCEDURES 

A disciplinary hearing: is the formal hearing held by members of the Detention Staff and Jail 
Warden and/or Warden’s designee. 

The disciplinary hearing will be held as soon as possible after the date of the infraction. The 
Detention Center holds hearings within seven working days of the incident.  

You will be informed, in writing, of the offense(s) within twenty-four hours and you will be 
informed on your rights in the proceedings. You will be notified of any continuances and the 
reason for them. You need to advise the Disciplinary Hearing Officer if you need assistance in 
preparing for the hearing. After receiving the Notice of a Disciplinary Hearing, you will have 
twenty-four hours or more to prepare for the hearing, unless you specifically waive this right or 
plead guilty to the offense. 

You will be present for the hearing, unless you waive that right, or if there is a documentable 
reason to exclude you from the hearing. If you refuse to attend the hearing when you are called, 
the hearing when you are called, the hearing will be held in your absence and any decision will 
be made on the available information. 

You are required to advise Detention Staff immediately of any witness you wish to call. You 
may request or name witnesses whose testimony you wish to have included as a part of the 
hearing record. You do not have the right to cross-examine or question witnesses. Detainees who 
wish their identity to remain confidential will not give testimony in your presence. You do not 
have the right to legal counsel during the disciplinary process, but you may request to have a 
Detention officer who was not a witness to the violations help you with your hearing. 

You will be advised of the disposition of your case at the conclusion of the hearing unless told 
otherwise by the Detention staff. 

If you are found guilty during a disciplinary hearing, you have the right to appeal the results to 
the Warden within two days of receiving the written decision of the hearing. If you do not timely 
file appeal the decision from the disciplinary shall be final. For example, the charges did not 
reflect the events that took place, or the sanctions are not comparable with the violations.  



All appeals must be presented in writing. The Warden or designee will respond to your appeal 
within a reasonable amount of time. The decision of the Warden is considered final.    

Immediate Disciplinary Separation: is disciplinary action taken by a Detention Officer upon 
observing a violation of a major or minor rule. This action is for the safety and security of the 
Detention Center. Your status will be reviewed within 48-96 hours. If formal disciplinary 
procedures are necessary, the procedure will begin immediately.  

Minor Rule Violations 

Detainees violate Minor Rules if they commit any of the following acts: 

MN-1 Abusive or offensive language / abusive or offensive gestures / racial, ethnic, or sexual                                         
slurs / teasing or harassment toward a Detention Officer, another detainee, or any person. 

     MN-2   Lying to or arguing with a Detention Officer, volunteer, or service provider. 
     MN-3   Horseplay, including wrestling, boxing, or pranks. 
     MN-4   Excessive or disruptive noise, including whistling, yelling, stomping of feet, pounding.   
     MN-5   Throwing any item, excluding recreational equipment used for their intended purpose. 
     MN-6   Loaning any personal or issued property, or anything of value for profit or increased 
      return. 
     MN-7   Passing or receiving notes or other items. 
     MN-8   Failure to cooperate with health care staff. 
     MN-9   Gambling or possession of gambling paraphernalia. 
     MN-10 Taking an extra meal tray or refusing to return a meal tray. 
     MN-11 Fraternizing or attempting to fraternize with a detainee of the opposite sex. 
     MN-12 Refusing to work or encouraging others not to work. 
     MN-13 Contact of any kind with a detainee(s) in disciplinary segregation (excluding                     
        cellmates, while both detainees are in the same cell) 
     MN-14 Failure to maintain personal hygiene or failure to keep your bed, cell, dayroom, and  
       other detainee spaces in a clean, orderly, and sanitary manner. 
     MN-15 Keeping food (non - commissary) in cell.    
     MN-16 Failing to properly wear your uniform or be fully dressed.                                         
     MN-17 Possession of unauthorized or extra clothing or linen. 
     MN-18 Failure to close cell door when outside of your cell. 
     MN-19 Attaching any item to lights, fixtures, doors, windows, vents, walls, or any place in   
       the  cells, dayroom, or the facility. 
     MN-20 Unauthorized use, or attempted unauthorized use, of the mail or of the telephone,  
       including attempts to call blocked numbers or unaccepted collect calls through the use 
       of other means. 
     MN-21 Keeping more than ten items of personal mail, two empty containers, one of each   
      extra hygiene items per detainee in your cell. 
     MN-22 Sitting on tables, dayroom fixtures, bed mats in the dayroom. 
     MN-23 Writing or marking walls, tables, dayroom fixtures, ceilings, uniforms, linen or any  
        any item belonging to the Detention Center.   
     MN-24 Tattooing or self-mutilation. 
     MN-25 Being in cells other than your own assigned cell at any time.  
     MN-26 Violation of programs or visitation rules. 



     MN-27 Possession of the property of another. 
     MN-28 Controlling, attempting to control, or exhibiting authority over another detainee(s) 
     MN-29 Placing feet on tables or any other furnishing in the Detention Center. 
     MN-30 Attempting, planning, or aiding in any Minor Rules violation. 
     MN-31 Possessing more than $100.00 in commissary in a week (receipt will state your order)  
       for that week. 
     MN-32 Loitering by pod entrance, by detainee phones while in use by another detainee, by 
video visitation booth while in use by another detainee. 
     MN-33 Moving from assigned bunk or changing bunk without authorization from staff. 
     MN-34 Possession of cleaning supplies in the cell, other than during allotted cell cleaning time. 
     MN-35 Disobeying or failure to follow Detention Officer’s orders or requests in a timely  
       manner (3 minor violations will result in a major violation). 
     MN-36 Hanging items on the cell bars or doors, obstructing camera views by cell doors being 
       open with towels or clothing items hanging on them. 
     MN-37 Hanging blankets off bunks to obstruct the view from officer’s will be considered a  
       form of attempt of escape, also placing blankets to appear as there is a body in place 
       will be considered a form of attempt of escape. 
     MN-38 Razors that are altered or razors that are in possession in the cell after the day of  
        issue is unauthorized. 
     MN-39 Passing over the YELLOW LINES and staring into the windows. 
       
Sanctions for Minor Rule violations 
 
      1. (1-15 days) of disciplinary segregation (lockdown) 
      2. Loss of privileges related to the violation for 1-15 days. 
      3. Classification change. 
      4. Forfeiture of 1-15 days of good time if granted by the Warden and the Court. 
      5. Restitution. 
      6. Any combination of the above. 
      7. Reporting of all rule violations to the Court or Judge hearing your case. 
 

 
Major Rule Violations 
 
Detainees violate Major Rules if they commit any of the following acts: 
 
    MJ-1 Homicide / assault / threat of assault / holding of any person. 
    MJ-2 Rioting or inciting others to riot. 
    MJ-3 Sexual intercourse, sodomy, oral sex, forced masturbation of others or masturbation of  
  self. 
    MJ-4 Escape, attempted escape, or aiding in the escape of another. 
    MJ-5 Arson (setting fire or burning any item) 
    MJ-6 Theft / robbery (stealing an item belonging to the Detention Center or a person, with or  
  without the use of force or threatened force) 
    MJ-7 Fraud or any act of forgery, false statement, or deceit that results in personal gain of any 
  kind. 



    MJ-8 Introduction or possession of contraband, including weapons and tools used for escape,  
 illegal narcotics of any kind also drug paraphernalia. Alcohol or homemade alcohol. Any  
 items that have been altered from its original form. Or outside items that are not allowed  
 in the Detention Center. (Pens, hygiene, food items, clothing items, jewelry, hair items 
 that are not purchased from the Detention Center).      
    MJ-9 Any type of sexual harassment, threat, or proposal toward a Detention Officer or any      
  other person. 
    MJ-10 Disobeying or failure to follow Detention Officer Orders or requests in a timely       
    manner. 
    MJ-11 Fighting with a Detention Officer, volunteers, service provider, or other detainee. 
    MJ-12 Disrupting or abusing any operation in the Detention Center (calling control over and  
     over and being rude and vulgar).  
MJ-13 Destruction, defacing, altering, or misuse of property of another (including the Detention  
 the Detention Center) 
MJ-14 Extortion, blackmail, bribery, or attempting to control the behavior of others through 
 threats, coercion, force, intimidation. 
MJ-15 Tampering or interfering with any lock, locking device, security monitoring device,  
 electrical outlets, sink, toilet, drain, or any other Detention Center hardware. 
MJ-16 Resisting or interfering with any Detention Officer during an order to lockdown, search,  
 count, disturbance, or emergency situation. 
MJ-17 Giving or offering any item of value to a Detention Officer or volunteer. 
MJ-18 Possession, manufacturing, use or introduction of any drugs, drug paraphernalia, alcohol 
 or intoxicant. 
MJ-19 Violation of any Municipal, County, State or Federal law. 
MJ-20 Violation of any work release or detainee worker agreements. 
MJ-21 Repeated Minor Rule violations. 
MJ-22 Attempting, planning, or aiding in the commitment to any Major Rules violation(s). 
MJ-23 Any outgoing or incoming mail or telephone use containing information that would disrupt 
the safety and/or security of the Detention Center.   
MJ-24 Unauthorized touching of any Detention Officer. 
MJ-25 Making any false claims against facility employees, verbally or through the grievance 
 process.  
MJ-26 Being in, or refusing to leave, an unauthorized area: 
            a. Detainees are not allowed in any area identified as an unauthorized area by detention                      
     officers. 
            b. Visitation booths are restricted, unless approved by the detention officers for visitation.   
 c. Walk on the right side of all hallways at all times. 
MJ-27 False report or accusation of any kind related to PREA (Prison Rape Elimination Act). 
MJ-28 Writing or marking walls, tables, ceilings, or fixtures of any judicial center.  
MJ-29 Misrepresentation of legal mail.  
 
Sanctions for Major Rule Violations 
 
1. 1-30 days of disciplinary segregations (lockdown) 
2. Loss of privileges related to the violation for 1-60 days. 
3. Classification change. 



4. Forfeiture of 1-30 days of good time if approved by the Warden and the court. 
5. Restitution 
6. Any combination of the above. 
7. Report of all rule violations to the court/judge hearing your case. 
8. Criminal charges may be placed for certain major violations. 
 
 
If any other infractions occur during a sanction more time will be added to original sanction 
at the discretion of the Warden.  
 
 
USE OF MAIL AND TELEPHONES 
 
Personal Outgoing Mail: 
All personal outgoing mail is subject to inspection for the safety and security of the Detention 
Center. You may write as many personal letters as you wish, as long you have stamped envelopes, 
which may be purchased through commissary. Outgoing mail must be placed in an envelope and 
NOT SEALED. Mail will be sealed by the administrative assistant after it is inspected.  
 
All outgoing mail must be addressed in the upper left-hand corner of the front of the envelopes as 
follows: 
 
   Your full name 
   Vigil Maldonado Detention Center  
   444 East Hereford 
   Raton, New Mexico 87740 
 
If you are indigent, you may request five envelopes for personal correspondence once a month, 
administrative assistant will place stamps on them when they are sent up front upon verification 
of indigent status. You must fill out a detainee request form, requesting this material. Your indigent 
status will be verified; however, you must be housed in this facility for two weeks to receive 
indigent status envelopes.                                                                                                                                                     
Detainees that have funds will purchase pre-stamped envelopes; indigents will not have a 
pre-stamped envelope. If we discover that an indigent envelope is sent by a detainee that is 
not indigent, that mail will be rejected and sent back to the detainee property.   
 
PERSONAL INCOMING MAIL 
 
All incoming mail is subject to opening and inspection for contraband, money and prohibited 
publications and for the safety and security of the Detention Center. Any mail violating “Prohibited 
Mail” rules will be returned to its sender. Any mail sent to a detainee must be sent in a sealed 
envelope, completely and correctly addressed, and must contain a complete and correct return 
address. 
 
There are no restrictions on the number of letters you may receive, but there are size and content 
restrictions. Only letter and legal-size envelopes are acceptable, with the exception of books that 



are sent direct from the publisher. You will be allowed to have a total of ten letters in your cell at 
one time. All other letters will be placed into your property bag, after you have read them. The 
only items that you will be able to accept, are photos (no Polaroid’s or computer printed pictures). 
You will be allowed to have a maximum of ten photographs in your cell (no photos or any materials 
will be attached to any surface in the Detention Center).  
 
Deposits may be made into your detainee account from personal mail by money order or cashier’s 
check. We do not accept personal checks or cash through mail. A Detention Officer will remove 
the funds (money orders or cashier’s check) and deposit them into your account. 
 
If any mail is to be confiscated or censored, the detainee will be notified in writing, within twenty-
four hours. The detainee and the sender have a right to appeal this action within seven working 
days of the action. 
 
If incoming mail is rejected, the entire letter and contents will be returned to the sender. Incoming 
mail belongs to the sender. The sender will receive a Sender Return Notice with the reason for the 
refusal and the sender’s right to appeal the refusal. The detainee will receive a Detainee Return 
Notice with the reason for the refusal and the sender’s right to appeal the refusal. 
 
Outgoing or incoming mail may be rejected if there is reason to believe that it may contain 
inappropriate materials, including but not limited to: 
 
a. Plans for the introduction of contraband. 
b. Plans for criminal activity. 
c. Instructions for the manufacturing of weapons, drugs, drug paraphernalia, explosives, or   
    alcoholic beverages. Plans for escaping or unauthorized entry. 
d. Gang graffiti or tagged correspondence (i.e., language, signs, symbols, coded words, or 
messages) 
    Mail that contains potentially infectious or offensive material. 
e. Photographs that contain nudity or sexually explicit depictions, promote racial conflict or           
    discrimination, gang affiliation or signs, or that would disrupt the safe and secure operation of   
   of the Detention Center. If you have any court order restricting contact with the sender. 
f. If Stated by Parole and Probation Officer(s) contact with certain persons is not allowed.          
g. There will be no detainee-to-detainee mail sent or received into this facility. This includes 
sending letters meant for another detainee through another person. (Piggy- backing) 
h.  Any mail containing stickers or tape adhered to any part of it or mail that contains perfume.   
stained or has lipstick on it. 
i. The Warden feels the mail poses a threat to the safety and security of the facility, staff, and  
     detainees. 
j. Envelopes may only include addresses. There is to be no artwork on the envelopes being sent.  
    out of the facility. 
k. no postcards, no greeting cards, or celebration cards are to be mailed in or out of the facility. 
  
The Detention Center is not responsible for delays or errors on the part of the U.S. Postal 
Service in the delivery of mail going out or coming in. 
 



  



Legal Mail 

 
Incoming legal mail must be clearly marked on the envelope “Legal Mail” and the address of the 
sender must be typed or printed to indicate the source or origin. Incoming legal mail will be opened 
and inspected, but not read, by a Detention Officer in the presence of the detainee to whom it is 
addressed. 
 
Outgoing legal mail that is clearly marked “Legal Mail” and will be sealed in front of the 
Detention Officer collecting mail. Misrepresentation of “Legal Mail” is strictly prohibited and will 
result in disciplinary action. All legal mail will be mailed through the U.S. Postal Service. 
 
Facsimiles can be sent when a detainee completes a Detainee Request Form and addresses the 
request to the “Booking Officer”. The items to be faxed should be attached to the Detainee 
Request Form, you are not permitted to verbally ask an officer to fax items for you.  A local 
fax is $1.00 per page. A long-distance fax is $2.00 per page. Faxes are at your expense; you must 
have money in your detainee account to send a fax. The only exception to this rule will be for 
treatment centers. Fees are subject to change according to the Colfax County Fee Schedule.  
 
If a detainee has been transferred or released, all incoming mail will be returned to sender.  
 
Appeal Process for Returned Mail 
 
a. If incoming mail is returned for one of the reasons listed above. The detainee will receive a                           
notification of the opportunity to appeal. The notification will be given in the form of a written  
Detainee Correspondence Denial Form. This form may also be sent to the sender if the mail was 
opened. If the mail clearly appears to be a greeting card it will automatically be returned to sender 
and will not be opened.   
 
b. The notice to the detainee will contain the name of the publication or item, the detainees. 
    name, the date that the mail was returned, the reason for the return, the  
    name of the person authorizing the return and instruction how the detainee 
    may appeal the return by following the facility Grievance Procedures. 
 
c. The detainee may appeal the return decision within five calendar days of the receipt. 
    of the notice of the grievance form, otherwise, it shall be deemed to be warived. The appeal 
must include the detainee’s name, date, 
    the name of the publication or item in question, and all the reasons the detainee  
    disagrees with the decision. Any reason not included in the written appeal will not  
    be considered. Detainees will be informed of the decision concerning the appeal within seven  
    Calendar days of the receipt of the appeal on the grievance form. If the person assigned to  
    respond to the grievance needs longer than seven calendar days due to the length of the  
    publication or the number of appeals being filed, notice will be provided to the detainee or  
    detainee that an extension of time is necessary to respond. Further appeals will comply with 
    the facility Grievance Procedures. 
  



 
d. Notice to the Sender will contain the name of the publication, or item, the detainee’s 
    name, date the publication or item was returned, the reason for the return and instructions on 
    how to appeal the return decision. 
 
e. The sender may appeal within seven calendar days after receipt of the notice, and otherwise any 
untimely appeal shall not be considered. The sender must  
    send the appeal by Certified Mail, addressed to the County Detention Center Warden 
     The appeal must include the detainee or detainees name, a contact person’s 
     name and address at the company or sender’s location, the date, and the name  
    of the publication or item, and all reasons that the sender disagrees with the return decision. 
    Any reasons not listed will not be considered. If the appeal does not contain all the required 
    information, such information will be requested of the sender, and the appeal will 
    be placed on hold pending receipt of the information. 
 
f. The facility will respond if the administrative officer, handling the appeals, needs longer than    
ten days due to the length of the publication or the number of appeals being filed, notice will be 
provided to the sender that an extension of time is necessary to respond. 

 
g. If the appeal by a detainee is successful the detainee may then contact the sender by mail to 
request that the publication or item be re-sent. If the appeal by a sender is successful, the sender 
shall include a copy of the decision to accept the item by them when re-sending the material. 
 
Telephone Calls 
 
During the booking and initial classification process, Detention Officers will allow you to place 
three local or collect long distance calls to procure bond. Each phone call will be limited to three 
minutes. All other calls to contact family, friends, employers, attorneys, etc., will be placed on 
collect call phones located in the housing unit. 
 
All calls, with the exception of attorney/client privileged conversations, will be monitored and 
recorded for the safety of the Detention Center. 
 
You may use the collect call telephones in the dayroom during designated times that you are 
allowed out of your cell. Phones are programmed to shut off after fifteen minutes, so that all 
detainees get an opportunity to use them. After your time has elapsed, you must give other 
detainees an opportunity to use the phones. Talking loudly, making threats, or abusing the phones 
is not acceptable and may result in phones being shut off and disciplinary action. If an officer 
observes any misuse of a telephone, they will instruct you to end the call immediately. Failure to 
comply with such an order is a Major Rule Violation.  
 
Phone cards may be purchased, if you have money in your detainee account, phone cards for $5.00, 
$10.00 or $20.00. You may not purchase or possess more than three phone cards at one time. (Note 
your commissary limit is $100.00 these counts towards your limit upon purchase of cards). Phone 
cards have a tracking number on them, and calls made are the responsibility of the person who 
purchased them. Do not share or give your card to anyone. 



 
 
DETAINEE REQUEST FORMS 
 
A detainee request form may be used to communicate with staff and administration or voice a 
grievance. After you complete the detainee request form, you will give it to a detention officer. 
The detention officer will then forward it to the proper personnel. You will receive a written 
response to your detainee request form from the appropriate personnel within five working days. 
Detainee request forms can be obtained from a detention officer. Administrative and Sergeant 
Requests are accepted on Mondays only.  
 
GRIEVANCES 
 
When abuse, harassment, violation of civil rights or denial of specified privileges is occurring. 
you may and may grievance form at any time without fear of harassment, discipline, punishment, 
or retaliation from detention center staff. You will detail your grievance, the outcome that is 
requested, sign the form, and return it to the detention staff. You will receive a written reply within 
five days. You may request the form from any detention staff.  

       
You may appeal a grievance decision to the Warden. You must request a grievance appeal form 
from detention staff. Your appeal must be done within twenty-four hours of receiving your answer 
from the grievance officer. The Warden will review the appeal and you will receive the decision 
within five working days. The decision of the Warden is final. 
 
EMERGENCY GRIEVANCE 
 
Emergency grievances that address the possibility of imminent harm shall be processed in an 
expedited fashion. 
The emergency grievance must be identified as an emergency grievance to be expedited and the 
Warden shall determine whether such grievance shall be considered as emergency.  
 
Staff will assist you with writing any form of grievance. Any time you feel you are in danger, or 
if you have a medical emergency, report it to the nearest detention officer and the sergeant will be 
notified immediately.  
The grievance officer will respond to emergency grievances within twenty-four hours of receiving 
the form. If this process is abused, the form will be returned stating why it is not an emergency 
and you may receive disciplinary action for abusing the process. 
 
HEALTH SERVICES  
 
Medical staff will see you upon intake and a full medical assessment must be done within fourteen 
days after entering the detention center. If you need to be seen before or after that, you should 
submit a detainee medical request form. Medical request forms are available from any detention 
officer upon request. If you have a medical emergency, notify any detention officer and they will 
contact the medical provider. 
 



Doctor visits and mental health visits may be conducted via Tele-Med. You will be seen using a 
secure live video conference between you and the medical provider. A detention officer and a 
nurse will be present during these visits. 
 

 
We will charge medical fees to your detainee account for the following: 
 

1. Visits to the doctor/dentist …………………………………. $15.00 per visit 
2. Prescriptions each month …………………….…………....... $5.00 for each prescription  
3. Sick call for nurse visit …………………………………….... $10.00 
4. Hospital visit …………………………………………………$20.00 
5. Lab call/draw …………………………………………………$15.00 
6. Wound care …………………………………………………. $10.00 

 
All medical care will be charged to your insurance if you have coverage, or to your detainee 
commissary account, when appropriate. The detention center will not deny medical care due to 
lack of funds but reserves the right to collect.   

Sick Call is for detainees wishing to see the doctor. If you wish to visit the doctor, you need to 
fill out a detainee medical request form. The reason for the visit should be detailed on the form. 
The form will be given to detention staff who will forward to medical. 

Mental health services are available. If you need Mental health services, you may make the 
request only on a detainee medical request form. 

Critical dental care is available for a serious dental problem. You may want to request only on 
a detainee medical request form. 

Off Site Medical/Dental is available, but the total bill will be charged to the detainee account 
unless it is related to PREA or is an illness or injury received while in custody that is not direct 
result of actions taken by the detainee. Any appointments related to a pre-existing condition will 
also be billed to the detainee account if seen off site. 

Medication is given to detainees, if properly prescribed with distribution at 8:00am and 8:00pm. 

Medline will be announced by detention staff, you will come out of the unit door when your 
name is called, the door will be closed for your privacy to protect your rights in accordance with 
HIPPA. You must have your water ready, and you are to administer your medication in front of 
the detention staff.  Ointments for infections may be applied in your room or the shower area. 
Detention staff will check your cup and your mouth to ensure you have taken your medication. 

Any checks of vital signs, blood glucose level checks, or wound treatments will be done in the 
medical clinic on site. 

  



HYGIENE AND SANITATION 

Personal hygiene is very important to your health, as well as the health of others. When you were 
processed through booking upon initial intake you were issued personal hygiene items, these 
items include one bar of soap, one toothpaste, one shampoo, one toothbrush, one pair of socks, 
one pair of boxer shorts and one white t-shirt. There is a charge for this hygiene kit, the fee is ten 
dollars. Additional hygiene can be purchased through commissary, if you cannot afford the 
hygiene from commissary and you qualify for indigent these hygiene items will be provided to 
you. One bar soap, shampoo, toothpaste, and toothbrush. This does not include boxers, socks, 
and t-shirts. You will be required to sign a form that you accepted indigent hygiene.  

(note) If you purchase hygiene items from commissary and you already have hygiene items in 
your possession the staff will place what you purchased in property, so you can have it when you 
are out of your hygiene. 

SHOWERS:  You will be expected to maintain personal body cleanliness and are required to 
shower at least once a week; however, you are encouraged to shower daily. The showers are 
available any time that you are allowed in the dayroom. The shower water temperature is pre-set 
by the Detention Center. You must be dressed at a minimum in boxers and a T-shirt when going 
to and from the shower. You are not permitted to leave your personal hygiene items in the 
shower.       

HAIRCUTS:  You will be allowed to cut your hair twice a month. Each housing unit will have a 
designated day of the week for haircuts. The hair clippers will be only placed in the housing unit 
on the designated day. If you missed cutting your hair that day, you will have to wait two weeks. 
Detention staff is not permitted to cut your hair, you or someone from your housing unit may cut 
your hair. Detention staff will give you a clean uniform after haircuts if you request. 

EARRINGS AND OTHER BODY JEWERLY: VMDC does not allow earrings, gages, 
tongue piercings, or any other piercings and jewelry. You are permitted your wedding ring and a 
plastic religious medallion, no metal. The healthcare staff will be contacted. No foreign objects 
are to be placed into openings intended for body jewelry.  

RAZORS: Razors will be issued by a Detention Officer on Tuesday and Friday. When you sign 
for the razor, you are responsible for that razor. Your razor must be returned as it was given to 
you, it should not be altered. When you are done shaving you will personally turn your razor 
into the Officer picking the razors up from the unit, no exceptions to the rule. If a razor is 
not returned to the staff the whole housing unit will be under lockdown restrictions until the 
razor is returned. It is a major infraction to tamper with razors.   

RAZORS FOR COURT: On days you have court you may request a razor. You will shave as 
you would on any other razor day. The same rules apply as any other razor day. 

LAUNDRY: Laundry is done according to the schedule posted for each housing unit.       
Keeping an extra set of oranges is a Minor Rule Violation. On the same day you receive your 
oranges, you will have the opportunity to have your personal items washed as well. Bedding will 
be washed once weekly. 



CLOTHING: You will be held responsible for clothing and other issued items while at the 
Detention Center. A replacement cost may be deducted from your detainee account for missing 
or damaged items. 

You are required to wear your T-shirt, underwear, uniform shirt, pants, socks, and sandals 
at all times outside of your cell or away from your bunk. It is a rule violation not to be fully 
dressed in the day room.  

IMPROPER USE OF CLOTHING:                                                                                 
Improper use of clothing is prohibited (A Minor Rule Violation).  Improper use of clothing 
includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. Altering Detention Center clothes without Detention Officer approval. 
2. Cutting socks, T-shirts, or other Detention Center property to wear as arm bands or head 

covering. 
3. Rolled or cuffed pants. 
4. Wearing socks outside of the pants. 
5. The wearing of pants lower than designed “sagging”.                                                                                                                                         
6. Wearing towels or other items as turbans. 
7. Wearing sandals in a way that they are not designed. 
8. Wearing oversized clothing unless we issue it to you.  
9. No hair accessories are allowed, unless purchased in the commissary.                          

        
 

CLOTHES FOR JURY TRIALS 

 
If you are scheduled for a jury trial, you must fill out the Administration Request Form 
for approval of clothes to be brought in for your jury trial. These clothes must be brought 
in during Detention Center business hours 8:00 am to 4:00pm Monday through Friday no 
other time is permitted. The following will be allowed: 
Males                                                                Females 
One pair of pants                                              One dress (or) 
One shirt                                                           One skirt and blouse (or) 
One tie                                                              One pair of slacks and a top 
One sport coat                                                  One pair of shoes 
One pair of socks                                             One pair of hose or socks 
One pair of shoes 
Note: Please make sure to inform your family of the size of clothing you need for your 
jury trial. The facility will not permit for clothing to be exchanged after it has been 
approved by the Administration.  

  



ISSUED ITEMS: 

These items may vary during intake, however, once you are classified and moved to your 
housing unit these will be the items you are given.   

*Hygiene Items:                    Clothing Items:                   *Clothing items issued upon intake  

One toothbrush                      One Orange Uniform Shirt            One White T-shirt 
One tube of toothpaste           One Orange Uniform Pant            One White boxer-shorts 
One bar of soap                      One pair of shower shoes              One Pair White socks 
One bottle of Shampoo                                                              
 
Linen items:                          Other items:     * You will be charged $10.00 for these items* 
Two blankets                           One Cup 
One Pillowcase                        One Spork 
One Mattress Cover                           
One Bed Mat                                      
One Towel 
One Pillow  
 
If you purchase hygiene items from the commissary which duplicate items you still have that 
were issued, this is considered an excess and is contraband. Any non – hygiene item that you 
damage or destroy, you will be responsible for replacement cost. 

Detainees may have plain white t-shirts, white boxers or briefs, pair of white socks and white 
bras (female) to be purchased from commissary. You are only allowed three of each of these 
items; extras are considered contraband.                       

All personal hygiene items will be kept stored either on your table in the cell or under your bunk, 
these items must be stored in an orderly fashion. Your dirty linen must be folded and placed 
under your bunk until your housing unit laundry day.                                                         

You may not put your orange uniform shirt over the table and use it for storage.   

Damage Property Fees:  

1. Facility Mattress. ........................................................................................ Cost - $50.00 
2. Facility Mattress Cover........................................................... Cost - $20.00 
3. Facility Issued Towel. ... ................. ........... ... ................. ...........  Cost - $10.00 
4. Facility Issued Wool Blanket .................. ........ ................. .......... Cost - $30.00 
5. Facility Issued Cotton Blanket . . .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . Cost - $9.00 
6. Facility Shower Curtain .................. ........... ... ................. ........... Cost - $14.00 
7. Facility Issued Orange Spork .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ... . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .  Cost - $2.00 
8. Facility Issued Coffee Mug............... ........... .. ................. ......... Cost - $5.00 
9. Facility Food Serving Trays...................................................... Cost - $10.00 
10. Facility Issued Orange Shirt .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..  Cost - $10.00 
11. Facility Issued Orange Pant . . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..  Cost - $10.00 

 



                                                             

12. Facility Black & White Stripe Shirt . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..  Cost - $10.00 
13. Facility Black & White Stripe Pant . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ... . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .  Cost - $10.00 
14. All other items that are County Property such as windows, toilets, tables, chairs and any 

other structures or items that are County Property. These items will be subject to price 
quotes. 
 
Please be advised that all prices may be subject to change as the rising cost of the 
items above by the manufacture. Also, criminal charges may be pursued on 
damaged property. If you damage property and do not have the funds in your 
account to pay for the damages, the damage cost will remain on your account. 

 

All rules and regulations set forth in this 
handbook may be subject to change. 

 
 
COMMISSARY: 
 
Commissary privileges are available to you once a week. You will receive your commissary 
form on Thursday and the purchased items will be issued on Friday.                                                                                                
The cut off for money deposited for commissary is Wednesday at 4:00pm. No exceptions    
 
The current commissary limit is $100.00 this is subject to change by the Warden. You may order 
various food and hygiene items that are presented on the commissary list and hygiene items. 
Commissary is a privilege that can be lost due to disciplinary actions for misconduct.  
 
Your family can bring or mail you funds for your commissary account. Only money order or 
cashier check will be accepted. No cash or no personal checks will be accepted.  
 
You will be considered indigent when you are booked into the Detention Center with less than 
one dollar, and after being housed for two weeks without any funds being placed for you. 
 
Department of Corrections Detainees: The Department of Corrections (DOC) will not allow 
you to return to their facilities with commissary items purchased from this facility. If you want to 
leave your items that you have purchased, you must fill out a request to the Warden to leave 
these items with an offender that is in your housing unit. This also applies to property before 
transport to prison, the facility will not accept property, your family must either mail or 
personally deliver these items to the Department of Corrections. Your property will be released 
after you are transported to the Department of Corrections.  
The Vigil Maldonado Detention Center will not accept commissary items from other Detention 
Facilities, these items will be turned over to the Warden for proper disposal. If it is not purchased 
from this facility, you are not permitted to have it.  
 



Library: The Vigil Maldonado Detention Center has a room with a small number of books and 
also a computer with Lexis Legal on it. There is a sign out sheet to check out books. You are 
limited to three books at one time in your cell. You may order books from outside the facility 
which will be screened by administration. You will receive a notice if a book is not permitted. 
The Book not permitted will be held by the Warden or placed in your property until your release 
from the facility. 
 
Recreation: Recreation is not on a set schedule. Your behavior will dictate if you are allowed to 
attend. Outdoor recreation may be denied due to your conduct for security or for medical 
reasons.  Subject to VMDC policies, General population detainees have access to excessive 
opportunities and /or leisure time activities, including exercise outside the cell. Restrictive 
Housing detainees have access to exercise at least three hours per day five days a week. 
 
 
Religion: You are allowed to practice whatever religion you wish, as long it does not interfere 
with the safety and security of the Detention Center, employees, or detainees. 

 
Television Usage: Television usage is a privilege that may be withdrawn at the Detention 
Officers discretion. If television sets are tampered with, they may be removed. Televisions are 
turned off at 10:00pm and will be turned back on at 08:00am.                                                           

      
 Detainee Worker Program:  New Mexico Statute section  (33-3-19) states “It is the duty of the 
sheriffs, jail administrators as defined in Section 4-44-19 NMSA 1978 or independent 
contractors in charge of the jails of the state to compel the prisoners who are sentenced to 
imprisonment in the jails to work on public projects without pay or remuneration whatsoever. A 
prisoner may be compelled to work a maximum of eight hours in a twenty-four-hour period; 
provided that a work period is followed by a rest period of a minimum of eight hours. No 
prisoner shall be compelled to work on Sundays and legal holidays. This work may be 
considered for good time reduction as provided in Section 33-3-9 NMSA 1978.”it is the duty of 
the jail Warden in charge of jails of this state to compel the offenders who are sentenced to 
imprisonment to work on public projects”. Sentenced offenders involved in the worker program 
may be considered for good time reduction, which is at the discretion of the judge, not Vigil 
Maldonado Detention Center staff.  
  
If you wish to become a Detainee Worker, you must complete an Administrative Request form 
and the Warden or designee will determine if you qualify to be a Detainee Worker. If accepted 
into the detainee worker program, you will be briefed on rules, work assignments and safety 
issues by the Detention Staff.  
 
After being sentenced, your behavior and length of sentence may qualify you to be a detainee 
worker. The duties of a detainee worker will be assigned by the Detention Center Staff and will 
vary from day to day. Some of the duties of a detainee worker are cleaning kitchen help, and 
grounds keeping (pulling weeds or picking up trash). 
 
You may be removed from detainee worker status at any time, pending a disciplinary hearing, 
for any rule violation or for violating the detainee worker agreement.    



 
Visiting: 
 
The Detention Center has non – contact visiting, personal video visits only. These visits that can 
be selected will be 20 or 40 minutes. This option is selected by the visitor.  The visiting screens 
are located in the housing units. You must fill out a detainee visiting form with the information 
including first and last names of those you want to visit you. Visitors not on your visiting list will 
be turned away.  
 
Visitors must be at least 18 years old with a valid picture I.D, visitors younger than 18 must be 
accompanied by a guardian who is at least 18 years old with a valid I.D.  
 Felons are not allowed to visit.  
 
When there is a visitation in the housing only the detainee that visit was set for should be in front 
of the video screen. If the Detention staff advises other detainees from the viewing areas to move 
and if there is a refusal, disciplinary action will be taken. If obscene behavior is observed visiting 
privilege can be revoked for the detainee and the person visiting. Video visitation must be by 
appointment, visiting hours are 9:00 A.M. to 9:00 P.M.   
Visitors using public terminals will visit on weekends 8:00 A.M. to 4:00 P.M. The visitor must 
schedule these visits during administrative office hours, which are 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., 
Monday through Friday.  
  
Visiting rules are:  

1. No visitor will be disruptive. 
2. No visitor is to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 
3. Visitors must have identification. 
4. Detainees can refuse a visitor. 
5. Detainee disciplinary reasons can prevent visitation. 
6. Visitors can not wear revealing clothing. 
7. No visits are allowed if protective order is in place between the offender and visitor. 
8. Your visitor must input their pin number before you input your detainee number, if you 

do not follow this procedure, you may jeopardize your visit.   
 

Professional: Police, Probation and Parole officers, attorneys, clergy, Social Service workers, 
and others with a legitimate, professional reason to visit detainees, as deemed appropriate by the 
Detention Warden may visit you. The professional visits are scheduled Monday through Friday 
from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Exceptions will be made upon court orders. 

Detention Center Security 

This is a detention environment where safety and security are major concerns. The use of audio 
and video monitoring equipment is used throughout the Detention Center for the safety and 
security of the Detention Officers and detainees. You are prohibited from tampering or 
interfering with any security device. 



Searches: All detainees in custody are subject to search at the discretion of the Detention Staff. 
You are required to cooperate with all searches when the Detention Staff instructs you to do so. 
You will be searched every time you enter or leave a housing unit or the facility. 

Administrative Searches: For the security and safety of detainees and Detention staff, regular 
unannounced searches of your housing area and property will be conducted. 

Any contraband, extra clothing, bedding, or property in amounts over what the Detention Center 
rules permit, will be confiscated, and disposed of. You do not have the right to be present during 
searches. 

Contraband: Contraband is anything in your possession, or under your control, which is 
prohibited by the rules and regulations of the Detention Center. 

Contraband includes without limitation any key, key pattern or replica, lock pick, tool or 
instrument which could be used to cut, dig, pry or file; money or coin(s), un-canceled postage 
stamps, combustible material, any drug paraphernalia, chain, rope or ladder, tobacco, e-
cigarettes. Anything altered from its original state. 

Dangerous Contraband: The following items are deemed Dangerous Contraband: 

1. Dangerous instruments firearms, explosive devices or substances, knives, or 
sharpened instruments. 

2. Narcotic drugs 
3. Dangerous drugs or controlled substances  
4. Any intoxicating beverage or fermented ingredients 

 

Nuisance Contraband: Nuisance contraband is anything that has not been provided or approved 
by the Detention Center or any approved item, which has been altered, changed, or misused, or 
any authorized items in excess of the allowed quantities.  

If you are found with any type of contraband in your possession, or under your control, you will 
be disciplined or prosecuted. 

You are prohibited from having in your possession, or under your control, any item not in its 
original condition. Modifying or altering any item, whether issued or purchased, is not permitted. 
This includes playing cards, magazines, and commissary items. 

 You are prohibited from having in your possession, or under your control, any fruit, other food 
items from meals served in the Detention Center.  

You are prohibited from having in your possession, or under your control, any cardboard boxes, 
plastic bags, string, or any container after the original contents are emptied. 

You are prohibited from having in your possession, or under your control, any newspaper in 
whole or part in your cell or property box at your bunk. 

You are prohibited from having any type of tobacco product e-cigarette, lighter or matches. 



You are prohibited from possessing any form of pornographic material.  

Safety: If at any time, you believe that your personal safety, or that of another, is in jeopardy, 
you should notify a Detention Officer immediately. Action will be taken to protect you or anyone 
else from violence or intimidation. 

Detention Officers, at their discretion, may transfer offenders from one location to another, also 
may place offenders into different classifications pending administrative review, and may 
suspend privileges without notice whenever such action is necessary to preserve order or to 
protect persons or property from harm. 

Emergency drills will be held periodically. These drills will ensure that our Detention Staff will 
react properly and keep you safe if an emergency occurs. You are expected to cooperate during 
all drills. 

Food Service: The Food Service staff serves a healthy and nutritious diet. We will serve you 
three meals every day. All meals will be served in the dayroom area and will be eaten in the 
dayroom. If you are under lockdown or under special restriction, you may be directed to eat 
inside your cell. Dining areas are to be left neat and clean. 

Special diets: 

Medical: If you are on a special diet or have trouble with some types of food, you should inform 
the nurse. They will decide if you need a special diet for medical reasons and advise Food 
Service. This can be done through a Medical Request Form. 

Religious: If your religious practice requires special food, you should submit a Detainee Request 
Form. The Detention Center Warden will determine if the request is legitimate and advise Food 
Service. 

Tobacco: The Detention Center is a tobacco free facility. It is a Major Rule violation to process 
or use any type of tobacco. Nicotine patches, gum and other forms of tobacco are contraband. 

Detainee Personal Money Account: 

When you are processed into the Detention Center, all money was taken from your person and 
placed in your detainee personal money account for your use, and to pay for services and fees 
during your stay at the facility. You will be charged a twenty-dollar booking fee also you will 
be charged $10.00 for the hygiene packet you received on intake. 

Incoming funds: Family and friends may deposit money into your detainee account in person 
Monday through Friday from the hours of 8:00 am to 4:00 pm.  They may also include the funds 
in mail sent to you. All funds must be in the form of a money order or a cashier’s check.  No 
personal checks or cash. Your funds must be received by 4:00 pm on Wednesday for you to 
receive commissary that week. No money or property can be exchanged between offenders. 

Outgoing Funds: Upon your release from custody, a check will be requested from the Colfax 
County treasurer for your remaining funds and will be returned to you. You will have to pick this 
check up from the facility four days after being requested from the treasurer. If the check is not 



picked up within the ten days of issuance, the check will be mailed to the address on your 
booking sheet. Released offenders may not leave money for housed offenders in the facility.  

Damaged Items: In addition to disciplinary actions, the cost of damaged Detention Center 
property will be deducted from your detainee account if you are found responsible for damaging 
Detention Center property. 

Cleaning: For the safety, and welfare of detainees housed in the Detention Center, you are 
required to keep your living area clean and sanitary. You are responsible for the cleanliness of 
your cell and your pod dayroom. To ensure compliance, Detention Officers will conduct 
unannounced, daily inspections during each shift.  Daily cleaning will take place between the 
hours of 8:00 am and 10:00 am. 

1. Your bed will be properly made any time you are not sleeping in it. 
2. Floors will be swept and mopped daily. 
3. Walls will be washed. 
4. Marking on the walls is prohibited and is a rule violation. 
5. Your toilet will be clean and flushed at all times. 
6. Your mirror will be wiped clean and dry. 
7. Trash will be removed from your cell daily. 
8. Cell windows will be cleaned, and no items will be placed on the windows or frames. 
9. Clothing will be folded and stored properly. 
10. Books, papers, and personal items will be stored neatly in your cell. 
11. You are not allowed to hang paper, pictures, or any item anywhere in your cell or pod. 
12. Bedding and linens will be used for sleeping purposes only. 
13. Bedding and linens will not be taken into the dayroom.                                                 
14. Nothing is to be hung or draped in a manner to obscure full view of your cell or pod.   

 

A properly made bed: The mattress must be on your bunk. The mattress cover must be over the 
mattress; the sheets placed on top of cover; the blankets must cover the top of the bed. The 
blankets and sheets must be tucked under the end and both sides of the mattress to make a firm, 
smooth surface. Do not tie the ends of your sheets into knots. You are not allowed to have any 
part, or your bed covered at any time to obstruct the view of any facility staff.                                
(No tents or curtains) 

Cleaning supplies and equipment: You are not allowed to have cleaning supplies or equipment 
in your cell or pod, except while cleaning. All cleaning supplies and equipment must be returned 
to the proper storage location after you have completed your cleaning task. It is a Minor Rule 
violation if you keep cleaning supplies or equipment in your cell or pod. 

Dayroom cleaning: All offenders will share the cleaning duties for the dayroom area and 
showers. You must participate in the dayroom cleaning when instructed by Detention Staff. 
Offenders on twenty-three-hour lockdown are responsible for maintaining the cleanliness of a 
specific area of the dayroom during their one – hour access to the dayroom. They will be 
expected to clean for a minimum of twenty minutes. 



The Warden may at any time in its sole discretion change the rules set forth above. You understand and 
agree to the additional terms added to this policy. 



Programs and Services Policy 

Policy  

Detainee programs, counseling and services are available, consistent with community standards 
and VMDC policies. The services are: 

A. Social Services 
B. Religious Services 
C. Recreation 
D. Leisure time 
E. Medical Services 

There will be no discrimination accessing programs based on a detainee’s race, religion, national 
origin, gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, veteran status, age, or disability. 

Procedure: 
1. The Warden will work with individuals, agencies, organizations, and business of Raton 

and Colfax County to provide detainee services. 
2. The Warden will ensure that these services: 

• Comply with the Laws of the State of New Mexico 
• Comply with National Detention Standards 
• Meet the basic rights of the detainees 
• Are consistent with community standards and resources 

3. The Warden will provide training for detention center staff to provide detainees access to 
services. 

4. The Warden will regularly meet with the supervisors to discuss and resolve issues 
regarding services. 

4.5.  The Warden will decide time, place and manner of these programs consistent with the 
VMDC policies and applicable state laws. 

 
 
 

























LGRF Amendment 8-2021 Page 1 of 2 FY22 

Contract No. D19404 

Vendor No. 0000054380 

Control No. L400592 

 

 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND 

COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

 

 

This First Amendment is to the Agreement entered into between the New Mexico Department 

of Transportation (Department) and the Colfax County (Public Entity).  This Amendment is 

effective as of the date of the last party to sign on the signature page. 

 

RECITALS 

 

Whereas, the Department and the Public Entity entered into an Agreement, Contract No. 

D19404, on August 13, 2022; and, 

 

Whereas, Section 19 allows for modification of the Agreement by an instrument in writing 

executed by the parties; and, 

 

Whereas, the Department and the Public Entity want to extend the term of the Agreement to 

allow for Project completion; and,  

 

Whereas, the parties agree to modify this Agreement.  

 

Now, therefore, the Department and the Public Entity agree as follows:  

 

1.  Section 6, Term, is deleted and replaced by the following: 

 

6.  Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all parties.  The effective date is the 

date when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 

terminates on December 31, 2024.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the 

Public Entity shall provide written notice along with detailed justification to the Department 

sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely processing of an Amendment. 

 

 

All other obligations set forth in the Original Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless 

expressly amended or modified by this First Amendment.  

 

 

 

 



LGRF Amendment 8-2021 Page 2 of 2 FY22 

 

In Witness Whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that 

party’s signature.  

 

 

New Mexico Department of Transportation 

 

 

By: ___________________________ Date: ________________________ 

Cabinet Secretary or Designee 

 
 

Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 

Office of General Counsel 

 

 

By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 

 Assistant General Counsel 

 

 

Colfax County 

By: ___________________________ Date: __________________________ 

 

Name: ________________________ 

 

Title: _________________________ 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: ___________________________  Date: __________________________ 

Colfax County  Clerk or Designee 



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

RESOLUTION #2023-40 
  

First Amendment to Local Government Road Fund  
 Control #L400592, Contract #D19404 

 
 

 
WHEREAS, Colfax County has a grant agreement for SB, Control #L400592, 
Contract #D19404 with the New Mexico Department of Transportation that 
expires December 31, 2023; and 
 
 
WHEREAS, Road work has experienced a delay due to weather. 
 
 
WHEREAS, The project has a high priority and importance to the County as 
it resurfaces and improves a high traffic road. 
 
 
WHEREAS, Colfax County requests that Control #L400592, Contract 
#D19404 to be extended for one year. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Colfax County, subject to the 
approval by NMDOT of this grant, hereby requests consideration of the 
following: 
 
 
Extension of Grant Agreement SB, Control #L400592, Contract #D19404 
for one year to December 31, 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
RESOLUTION #2023-40 

 
 

APPROVED in the Open Meeting this 14th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 

COLFAX COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Si Trujillo, Chairman 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Mary Lou Kern, Vice Chairman   

 
 

_______________________________ 
Bret E. Wier, Member 

 
 

               
                                                                                                                         
 ATTEST:  

 
 

_______________________________________ 
 RAYETTA M. TRUJILLO, CLERK OF THE BOARD    

 
 



LGRF Amendment 8-2021 Page 1 of 2 FY22 

Contract No. D19403 

Vendor No. 0000054380 

Control No. L400578 

 

 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND 

COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

 

 

This First Amendment is to the Agreement entered into between the New Mexico Department 

of Transportation (Department) and the Colfax County (Public Entity).  This Amendment is 

effective as of the date of the last party to sign on the signature page. 

 

RECITALS 

 

Whereas, the Department and the Public Entity entered into an Agreement, Contract No. 

D19403, on August 13, 2022; and, 

 

Whereas, Section 19 allows for modification of the Agreement by an instrument in writing 

executed by the parties; and, 

 

Whereas, the Department and the Public Entity want to extend the term of the Agreement to 

allow for Project completion; and,  

 

Whereas, the parties agree to modify this Agreement.  

 

Now, therefore, the Department and the Public Entity agree as follows:  

 

1.  Section 6, Term, is deleted and replaced by the following: 

 

6.  Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all parties.  The effective date is the 

date when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 

terminates on December 31, 2024.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the 

Public Entity shall provide written notice along with detailed justification to the Department 

sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely processing of an Amendment. 

 

 

All other obligations set forth in the Original Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless 

expressly amended or modified by this First Amendment.  

 

 

 

 



LGRF Amendment 8-2021 Page 2 of 2 FY22 

 

In Witness Whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that 

party’s signature.  

 

 

New Mexico Department of Transportation 

 

 

By: ___________________________ Date: ________________________ 

Cabinet Secretary or Designee 

 
 

Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 

Office of General Counsel 

 

 

By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 

 Assistant General Counsel 

 

 

Colfax County 

By: ___________________________ Date: __________________________ 

 

Name: ________________________ 

 

Title: _________________________ 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: ___________________________  Date: __________________________ 

Colfax County  Clerk or Designee 



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

RESOLUTION #2023-39 
  

First Amendment to Local Government Road Fund  
 Control #L400578, Contract #D19403 

 
 

 
WHEREAS, Colfax County has a grant agreement for CAPS, Control 
#L400578, Contract #D19403 with the New Mexico Department of 
Transportation that expires December 31, 2023; and 
 
 
WHEREAS, Road work has experienced a delay due to weather. 
 
 
WHEREAS, The project has a high priority and importance to the County as 
it resurfaces and improves a high traffic road. 
 
 
WHEREAS, Colfax County requests that Control #L400592, Contract 
#D19404 to be extended for one year. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Colfax County, subject to the 
approval by NMDOT of this grant, hereby requests consideration of the 
following: 
 
 
Extension of Grant Agreement CAPS, Control #L400578, Contract 
#D19403 for one year to December 31, 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
RESOLUTION #2023-39 

 
 
 

APPROVED in the Open Meeting this 14th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 

COLFAX COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
 

 
_______________________________ 
Si Trujillo, Chairman 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Mary Lou Kern, Vice Chairman   

 
 

_______________________________ 
Bret E. Wier, Member 

 
 

                                                                                                                                       
ATTEST:  

 
 

_______________________________________ 
RAYETTA M. TRUJILLO, CLERK OF THE BOARD    

 
 





















































 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
October 31, 2023 
  
Erin Ortigoza 
Food & Hunger Agricultural Specialist 
New Mexico Economic Development Department 
P.O Box 20003 
Santa Fe, NM 87504-5003 
 
Dear Ms. Ortigoza: 
 
I am writing in support of Ramel Family Farms’ (“RFF”) application in pursuit 
of funding via the Healthy Food Financing Fund (“HFFF”) FY24 grant cycle. 
RFF already serves the residents of Northern New Mexico, specifically Colfax 
County, with fresh, healthy, and locally produced food that was largely 
unavailable in the area prior to their efforts. This grant award will enable 
them to serve Colfax County residents even better, while also allowing them 
to expand their production in support of residents throughout Northern New 
Mexico.  
 
Their existing partnerships with the City of Raton, regional school districts, 
local businesses, and the food-hub non-profit Ogallala Commons are 
evidence of their commitment to help solve the region’s food security 
dilemma. We believe their team and track record of success on this project 
and others in the area bodes well for future endeavors by the company as 
they work to further support public schools, seniors, and other marginalized 
populations.  
 
In addition to their commitment to healthy food, RFF is also a driving force 
for economic development in Colfax County through the creation of well-
paying jobs, their investment in saving old buildings and remediating land, 
and their recruitment of others to the area.  
  
This letter pledges the support of the Colfax County Commission in pursuit of 
Ramel Family Farms’ aspirations. We are committed to seeing the expansion  
 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
of healthy food production, workforce development and career 
opportunities made available to Colfax County and the surrounding area. 
 

 
  
Sincerely, 
  
 
 

Approved in open meeting this 14h day of November 2023. 
 
 

COLFAX COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
______________________________________________  
Si Trujillo, CHAIRMAN  
 
______________________________________________  
Mary Lou Kern, VICE-CHAIR  
 
______________________________________________  
Bret Wier, MEMBER  
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  
_____________________________________________  

 Rayetta M. Trujillo, CLERK OF THE BOARD 
 
 



November 2023
INDIGENT REPORT

MEDICAID
PREVIOUSLY APPROVAL MEDICAL RATE MCMC OTHER MCMC OTHER MCMC 906.00

CASE# APPROVED DATE FACILITY CLAIM MCMC OTHER ($15,000 limit/year) ($7,500 limit/year) ($15,000 limit/year) ($7,500 limit/year) Advanced MD 666.00

TOTALS $0.00
  

SUBMITTED FOR MEDICAL MEDICAID APPLICANT INCOME GUIDELINES REASON FOR
CASE# VMDC INITIAL APPROVAL FACILITY CLAIM RATE OTHER INCARCERATED LIMIT SATISFIED DENIAL

2023-23 10/25/2023 Advanced MD 666.00 YES YES
2023-24 10/31/2023 MCMC 906.00 YES YES

TOTALS 1,572.00

SHERIFF SUBMITTED FOR MEDICAL MEDICAID APPLICANT INCOME GUIDELINES REASON FOR
CASE# DETAINEE INITIAL APPROVAL FACILITY CLAIM  OTHER INCOME LIMIT SATISFIED DENIAL

TOTALS
 

SUBMITTED FOR MEDICAL MEDICAID APPLICANT INCOME GUIDELINES REASON FOR
CASE# NEW APPLICANTS INITIAL APPROVAL FACILITY CLAIM RATE OTHER INCOME LIMIT SATISFIED DENIAL

TOTALS

SUBMITTED FOR MEDICAL MEDICAID APPLICANT INCOME GUIDELINES REASON FOR
CASE# DENIED CLAIMS INITIAL APPROVAL FACILITY CLAIM RATE OTHER INCOME LIMIT SATISFIED DENIAL MCMC

THAT WAS REQUESTED
TOTALS TOTALS

CASE# CREMATION INITIAL APPROVAL FACILITY CLAIM RATE OTHER INCOME LIMIT SATISFIED DENIAL

TOTALS $0.00 TOTALS

CREMATION

DENIED CLAIMS

Approved ClaimsPREVIOUS CLAIMS YTD APPROVALS


















































	Ordinance 2023-02 An Ordinance Regulating The Sitting and Permitting Of Wireless Telecommunications Facilities.pdf
	COLFAX COUNTY, NEW MEXICO
	ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02
	AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE SITING AND PERMITTING OF
	WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATION FACILITIES
	II. DEFINITIONS:
	A. Abandonment – cessation of use of a wireless support structure for wireless telecommunications activity for at least the minimum period specified by this Ordinance.
	B. Administrative Approval – approval that the Administrator or designee is authorized to give.
	C. Administrator – the County Administrator/Manager, or his/her designee.
	D. Applicant – a wireless provider, infrastructure owner, or their agent, who is an Applicant for a Wireless Telecommunications permit.
	E. Antenna – communications equipment that transmits, receives, or transmits and receives electromagnetic radio signals used in the provisions of wireless telecommunications services.
	F. Carrier on Wheels (COW) – a portable, self-contained wireless telecommunications facility that can be moved to a location and set up to provide wireless services on a temporary or emergency base.
	G. Colocation – placement or installation of wireless facilities on existing structures, including electrical transmission towers, water towers, buildings, and other structures capable of supporting wireless facilities' attachment in compliance with a...
	H. Concealed Wireless Facility – any wireless facility that is blended as an architectural feature of any existing structure or any new wireless support structure designed to camouflage or hide the presence of antennas or towers so that the purpose of...
	I. Eligible Facility request – a request for modification or colocation of an existing wireless tower that involves new transmission equipment or replacement of transmission equipment but does not include a substantial change of the existing structure.
	J. Existing structure – a wireless support structure erected before the application for an eligible facility request, colocation, or modification under this Ordinance capable of supporting wireless facilities' attachment.  The term includes but is not...
	K. Public Right-of-Way – an area of land owned or controlled by the County for the purposes of constructing, operating, and maintaining public facilities such as streets, alleys, sidewalks, bike paths, and landscaping for the needs of transportation, ...
	L. Rigorous Structural Analysis – May assume the structure is properly constructed and maintained; used to determine the final acceptance of proposed changes; must determine the overall stability and adequacy of the structural members, foundations, an...
	M. Set-back – the area in which a wireless support structure may be expected to fall in the event of a structural failure as defined by the Ordinance.
	N. Small Wireless Facilities/Systems – One of several specialized systems that comprises mini-macro cells, Distributed Antenna Systems (DAS), or Wi-Fi Hot Spots specifically for outdoor coverage. Individual small cell sites typically cover a small rad...
	O. Substantial Change - Substantial Change for Eligible Facilities Request means a modification that substantially changes the physical dimensions of an Eligible Support Structure if, after the modification, the structure meets any of the following cr...
	1. For Towers, other than Alternative Tower Structures in the Right of-Way or other towers in the Right-of-Way, it increases the height of the Tower by more than 10 percent or by the height of one additional Antenna array, with separation from the nea...
	2. For Towers, other than Towers in the Right-of-Way, it involves adding an appurtenance to the body of the Tower that would protrude from the Tower more than 20 feet, or more than the width of the Tower structure at the level of the appurtenance, whi...
	3. For any Eligible Support Structure, it involves installation of more than the standard number of new equipment cabinets for the technology involved, but not to exceed four cabinets; or for Towers in the Right-of-Way and base stations, it involves i...
	4. For any Eligible Support Structure, it entails any excavation or deployment outside the current Site.
	5. For any Eligible Support Structure, it would defeat the concealment elements of the Eligible Support Structure. For the purposes of this subsection (K), a change which undermines the concealment elements of an Eligible Support Structure will be con...
	6. For any Eligible Support Structure, it does not comply with conditions associated with the siting approval of the construction or modification of the Eligible Support Structure equipment, unless the non-compliance is due to an increase in height. i...
	P. Tower – a structure, guided or freestanding, that supports one or more antenna.
	Q. Wireless Facility or wireless telecommunication facilities – the set of equipment and network components exclusive of the underlying wireless support structure, including but not limited to antennas, accessory equipment, transmitters, receivers, ba...
	III. APPLICABILITY:
	A. This Ordinance applies to all construction and expansion of wireless telecommunications facilities, except as provided in III B Exemptions
	B. Exemptions:
	 Fire, police, department of transportation, or other public service facilities owned and operated by Colfax County, local, state, or federal government.
	 Any facilities expressly exempt from the jurisdiction's citing, building, and permitting authority.
	 Over-the-Air reception devices, including the reception antennas for direct broadcast satellites (DBS), multi-channel, multipoint distribution (wireless cable) providers (MMDS), television broadcast stations (TVBS), and other customer-end antennas t...
	 Facilities exclusively for private, non-commercial radio and television reception and private citizen's bands, and other similar non-commercial telecommunications.
	 FCC-licensed amateur radio facilities require Administrative Approval and are exempt from all ordinance requirements except reasonable screening, set-back, placement, construction, tower height, and health and safety standards per New Mexico state l...
	 Facilities that exclusively provide unlicensed spread spectrum technologies (such as IEEE 802.11a/b/g/n/ac/ax {Wi-Fi and Bluetooth}) where the Facility does not require a new tower.
	All Wireless Facilities existing on the date of passage of the ordinance shall be allowed to continue their usage as they are presently approved. Routine maintenance shall be permitted on such existing Towers.


	IV. PERMIT APPLICATION PROCESS AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS:
	A. All Applicants for Special Use Permits and Conditional Special Use Permits shall comply with the requirements outlined in this Article.
	B. The Board of County Commissioners of Colfax County designates the Colfax County Manager as the Administrator to whom applications for Special Use Permits and Conditional Special Use Permits must be made.  The Administrator is authorized to review, ...
	C. The Applicant shall complete the following steps to assist the Administrator in expediting the completion of the process:
	 Optional Pre-Application Conference:  At the Administrator’s discretion, applicants seeking a Telecommunications Permit will obtain and review this Ordinance and meet with the Administrator, either electronically or in person, before submitting an a...
	a) A discussion of potential best locations for the Telecommunications Facility, taking into consideration Colfax County’s defined priorities that meet the Applicant's requirements for service. The application process may require an explanation for a ...
	(1) On existing Towers or structures without increasing their height.
	(2) On existing Tower or structures with an increase in their height.
	(3) On Colfax County-owned properties.
	(4) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly by Industrial use.
	(5) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly by Commercial use.
	(6) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly by Agricultural use.
	(7) On properties zoned, or if not zoned, characterized predominantly by Residential use.
	b) A discussion of issues to help expedite the review and permitting process.
	c) A site visit to potential best location sites, if deemed necessary by the Administrator.
	d) A determination of the type of application to be made.
	e) A discussion of the defined information required to support the proposed location.
	f) A discussion of the specific application requirements that are needed for review and consideration by the Administrator.  Requirements for the Application may vary based on the specific location, type of facility selected, and the potential impact ...
	g) Any applicant desiring relief, waiver, or exemption from any Ordinance requirement may request such at the pre-application meeting.  The burden of proving the need for the request lies solely with the Applicant. No request shall be approved unless ...

	 Application Process:  The Applicant shall complete the on-line application processes as defined by the Administrator at the outset of the process.
	a) All applications shall contain a demonstration that the Telecommunications facility will be sited to be the least visually intrusive, as reasonably possible.
	b) In addition to demonstrating that the proposed modification, colocation, eligible facility, or new tower or telecommunications facility blends into the character and environment of the proposed location, all applications shall contain the following...
	(1) Registration of an Agent, including the name, address, and telephone numbers of the designated Agent and his/her company.
	(2) Authorization of the Agent as an official and representative of the Applicant; then pending approval.
	(3) Complete a project description which shall include a general description of the Applicant's project and its proposed physical location.
	(4) Contact information including the name, address, and telephone number of the person or entity who will be responsible for the Applicant's construction and management of the project.
	(5) Contact information for the support structure project manager for the proposed location and contact information for any manager of the real property for the proposed site (e.g., building manager, tower owner).
	(6) Define the type of project (colocation, modification, new tower, etc.), and the specific physical site address and description of the project.
	(7) Completing a Tower/Wireless Facility Registration or, if a Tower/Wireless Facility Registration already exists for the proposed location, completing a Tower/Wireless Facility Registration Update, if needed.  The Tower/Wireless Facility Registratio...
	(a) Name, address, and telephone contact number for the tower owner.
	(b) Name, address, and telephone contact number for the real property owner, if different than tower owner.
	(c) Current number and identification of co-locators on the tower/facility.
	(d) Site name, number, and physical address.
	(e) Documentation and specifics regarding the agreement terms (other than financial) demonstrating Applicant's right, title, or interest in the real property where the facility is to be sited, including the name, address, and phone number of the prope...
	(f) Description of the tower/facility, including but not limited to height, setback, type of structure, and the number of existing co-locators.
	(g) Verifiable copy of the current tower inspection report using ANSI/TIA-222-G (or newer), including the expiration date, the company performing inspection, and ANSI standard used.
	(h) Contact information including name, address, and telephone number for the person or entity performing the most recent or current tower inspection.
	(i) A copy of the Soils Study Report including but not limited to the date completed, person or entity name performing the Soils Study, project number, identification of the Professional Engineer providing certification of the study with New Mexico re...
	(j) Any other information deemed necessary or required by Colfax County.

	c) Applications for a modification, colocation, or eligible Facility to an existing structure, without an increase of height or size, shall include:
	(1) All items listed in Section b. above which do not exist or are no longer current or expired (inspection, lease, etc.).
	(2) Project name for the existing colocation site or project.
	(3) Names, addresses, and phone numbers of the person or entity preparing the application.
	(5) Certified Site Plans using ANSI/TIA-222-G (or newer), including the Professional Engineer's name and New Mexico registration/license number, physical description of the current configuration of the site, physical description of the proposed design...
	(6) Certified Structural Analysis using ANSI/TIA-222-G (or newer), including identification of the Professional Engineer's name and registration/license number providing the Analysis, a copy of all calculations, reference documents and results, percen...
	(7) Performance Bond including amounts as set by Colfax County, to remain in place as long as the site remains active and in place and until the tower or facilities are removed as required by the Ordinance.
	(8) Copy of the Certificate of Insurance demonstrating the requirements of the Ordinance.
	(9) Identification of the general contractor(s) with proof of current Colfax County licensure as required by the State of New Mexico, and.
	(10) Projected start and completion dates of construction.

	d) Applications to install a new tower or telecommunications facility will include the following:
	(1) All information is listed in Sections b. and c. above.
	(2) The number, type, and design of the tower(s) and antenna(s) proposed.
	(3) All reports, data, calculation, and design criteria demonstrate the tower's capability to accommodate multiple users.
	(4) Demonstration of the Applicant's meaningful efforts to secure shared use of existing tower(s) or other structures within the defined parameter of one (1) mile including but not limited to copies of written requests and responses for shared use.
	(5) The new wireless Facility justification includes capacity information, the gap in coverage information, or other information demonstrating rationale for the application.
	e) Applications to Install Small Wireless Facilities/Systems will include the following: (Note: A special meeting with the agents/engineers/representatives of the Applicant may be needed to ensure that systems documentation requirements are fully unde...
	(1) All information listed in Sections b. c. & d. above.
	(2) The entire system and any associated groups of Small Wireless facilities, within limits defined by the on-line application, may be included in a single application process.
	(3) Each component of the system must be represented in the on-line Application Process.
	(4) Each system's unique components must be shown and include all the relevant data to complete the process.  However, all like (virtually identical) nodes may be demonstrated once but must consist of all the physical locations for each node.


	a) Incomplete applications will not be accepted for further review and processing.
	b) Applications submitted without the payment of costs and fees as required by Colfax County are incomplete and shall not be accepted for further review and processing.
	c) IF THE APPLICATION IS NOT COMPLETE:
	Colfax County shall notify the Applicant in writing or via email of the provisions of the code, Ordinance, application process, or publicly stated procedures that were not completed and inform the Applicant that the application may be resubmitted.
	d) IF A RESUBMITTED APPLICATION IS NOT COMPLETE:
	Within ten (10) days of the resubmission of the application, Colfax County shall notify the Applicant in writing or via email of whether the resubmission is complete, and that the application may be resubmitted, and inform the Applicant of the code, O...
	e) IF THE APPLICATION IS COMPLETE and based on the review of the application, the Administrator shall, within the periods allowed under federal, state, and local law:
	(1) Approve, approve with conditions, or deny a Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit.
	(2) Issue a written decision within ten (10) days of deciding on the application, which is supported by evidence contained in the on-line information and records submitted by the Applicant.
	(3) Place the burden of proof for the granting of the Permit upon the Applicant.
	(4) Refer the application to the Board of County Commissioners of Colfax County for review and consideration; once a variance or waiver is obtained or granted, the Administrator may request the Applicant update the application if the Administrator dee...


	 Construction of the Proposed Facility:  If an application is approved or approved with conditions, a Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit will be issued to the Applicant:
	a) The Applicant must comply with all requirements of the Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit.
	b) The Applicant will be required to meet and satisfy all building inspection processes generally needed for a construction project.
	c) The Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit shall not be assigned, transferred, or conveyed without written notification to and approval from Colfax County within six (6) months.
	d) The Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit may be revoked, canceled, or terminated for violation of the Permit's conditions and provisions or for a material breach of this Ordinance as permitted by local Ordinance, state, and federal law.
	e) Colfax County will provide the permit holder written notice of an intent to revoke, cancel or terminate the Permit with identification of the violation(s) and give the holder of the Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit with an opportunity ...
	 Completion of Construction:  When the Applicant completes the project's construction, the Applicant shall notify the Administrator of the need for a final inspection. Colfax County or the Agent for Colfax County will verify that the site is construc...


	V. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS OF WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES:
	A. Lighting:  Telecommunications facilities shall not be lighted or marked unless required by law.  If lighting is needed, Applicant shall provide a detailed plan for sufficient lighting as inoffensive as permissible under State and Federal regulation...
	B. Materials:  Towers shall be galvanized or painted with a rust-preventive paint of an appropriate color to harmonize with the surroundings and shall be maintained for the Tower's life.
	C. Set-back Requirements: Stand-alone Wireless Telecommunications Facilities shall be no closer to any property line than the total height of the completed unit, plus ten percent (10%).  The structure should not be capable of falling onto an adjacent ...
	D. Security of Wireless Telecommunications Facilities: All Wireless Telecommunications Facilities and Antennas shall be located, fenced, or otherwise secured in a manner that prevents unauthorized access.
	E. Signage: Telecommunications Facilities shall contain a sign to provide adequate notification to persons in the immediate area of the presence of RF radiation or to control exposure to RF radiation within a given area.  A sign of the same size shall...
	F. Update of Signage:  The Applicant or future owner of the site shall update the site identification number and emergency phone numbers of the Wireless Telecommunications Facility as displayed on the required sign within one month of any sale, assign...
	G. Temporary Communications on Wheels (COW):  In the event of an emergency or natural disaster which renders other forms of communication nonviable, thus necessitating a COW, Colfax County and the Telecommunications provider shall agree to special ter...
	 If a COW becomes inoperable due to force majeure or Acts of God, it must be removed from the site within 30 days of becoming unusable.
	 Regarding a special event where a COW is used, it must be removed from the site within 48 hours of the conclusion of the event.


	VI. APPLICATION FEES and OTHER REQUIREMENTS:
	A. At the time a person applies for a Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit for a new Tower or requires an increase in height to an existing Tower or for colocating on an existing Tower or other suitable structure, where no increase will occur...
	B.  In addition to the application fee, Colfax County may retain the services of an expert agent in connection with the processing and/or review of the application and the permitting and final inspection of site.  The Applicant shall be responsible fo...
	C. The Applicant shall pay for the projected agent costs to Colfax County, or its agent, at the time of the application.
	D. An application is incomplete until the Application Fee is paid, and the Applicant has paid the costs for the expert agents.
	E. The county’s agent shall provide Colfax County with an invoice for the costs of the services.  The amount invoiced by the county’s agent will be assessed to the Applicant as the Application Processing and Review Fee.
	F. The Application Fees and Costs are defined by the Notice of Fees Resolution associated with this Ordinance; adopted, amended, or replaced from time to time as the County Commission determines.
	G. The Applicant, Colfax County, and the county’s agent will comply with all state and local requirements concerning payment of the county agent’s fees.
	H. The Applicant and the owner of record of any proposed Wireless Telecommunications Facilities property site shall, at their cost and expense, be jointly required to execute and file with Colfax County a bond, or other form of security acceptable to ...
	 Colocation or modification of an existing tower:  $25,000
	 Small wireless facility:  $15,000
	 New tower or other structure: $75,000
	Such sureties are deemed sufficient by Colfax County to assure the faithful performance of the terms and conditions of this Ordinance and conditions of any Telecommunications Permit or Conditional Use Permit issued according to this Ordinance. The ...
	I. A holder of a Special Use or Conditional Special Use Permit shall secure and at all times maintain public liability insurance for personal injuries, death, and property damage and umbrella insurance coverage for the duration of the Permit in amount...
	 Commercial General Liability covering personal injuries, death, and property damage: $1,000,000.00 per occurrence/$2,000,000.00 aggregate.
	 Automobile Coverage: $1,000,000.00 per occurrence/$2,000,000.00 aggregate.
	 Workers Compensation and Disability: Amount required by New Mexico state law.
	 Commercial General liability insurance policy shall specifically include Colfax County and its officers, employees, agents, and agents as additional named insureds.
	 Insurance policies shall be issued by an agent or representative of an insurance company licensed to do business in the state and with a "Best's" rating of at least A.
	 Insurance policies shall contain an endorsement obligating the insurance company to furnish Colfax County with at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of the cancellation of the insurance.
	 Renewal or replacement policies or certificates shall be delivered to Colfax County at least fifteen (15) days before the expiration of the insurance that such policies are to renew or replace.
	 The Permit Holder shall provide Colfax County with a copy of the policies/certificates before construction and upon written request by Colfax County.
	VII. REMOVAL OF TOWER/ANTENNA/REVOCATION/DEFAULT:


	A. Cessation of Operations/Abandonment/Disrepair:  Colfax County may require the removal of a Telecommunications Facility(ies) when: such item(s) with a permit have been abandoned or operations of Telecommunications Facility has ceased for a period ex...
	B. Modification, location, or construction without Permit:  If any equipment or item has been located, constructed, or modified without a permit, or in a manner inconsistent with the approved permit requirements, and the Facilities have been located, ...
	C. Lack of Insurance:  If a Permit holder has failed to comply with the liability insurance requirements required by Colfax County, Colfax County may require the removal of the item, equipment, or the Telecommunications Facility.
	D. Notification of Violation: If Telecommunications Facilities are repaired, rebuilt, placed, moved, relocated, modified, or maintained in a way not in compliance with this Ordinance or the Telecommunication Permit or the Conditional Use Permit, Colfa...
	E. Failure to Cure:  After receiving notice of a violation, the permit holder shall have ninety (90) calendar days to cure or remove the violation. Colfax County shall extend such cure period as necessary upon the Permit holder demonstrating that desp...
	F. Failure to Cure (Removal of an item, equipment, or Telecommunications Facility is not required): For all violations other than a violation which requires removal of an item, equipment, or Telecommunications Facility, a Permit holder has thirty (30)...
	G. Failure to Cure (Removal of the item, equipment, or (Telecommunications Facility is required): If the permit holder cannot cure the violation that involves removal of an item, equipment, or Telecommunications Facility within the cure period, the pe...
	H. Removal by Colfax County:  If the item, equipment, or Telecommunications Facility is not removed or substantial progress has not been made to remove it within ninety (90) days of the permit holder receiving notice, then Colfax County may order offi...
	I. Sale upon Abandonment:  If Colfax County removes or causes to be removed the item, and the owner does not claim and remove it from the site to a lawful location within one hundred twenty (120) days, then Colfax County may take steps to declare the ...
	J. Temporary Use Permit/Agreement:  Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, Colfax County may approve an interim use permit/agreement for the item for no more than ninety (90) days, during which time a suitable plan for removal, conv...
	K. Emergency Removal:  If Colfax County determines the item is hazardous, creates an emergency situation, or adversely affects public safety, Colfax County may remove or cause to be removed the item after three (3) days written notice to the Permit ho...
	L. Failure to Cure: A Permit holder still in violation after the expiration of the cure period may be considered in default, subject to fines as outlined in this Ordinance, and the Permit is subject to revocation.
	M. Fines:  A Permit holder who violates this Ordinance may be fined up to $500 for each violation, and each day that a violation exists shall be deemed to be a separate violation.

	Novemeber 14, 2023 Notice of Public Hearing .pdf
	November 14, 2023 Special Meeting Agenda .pdf
	November 14, 2023 Regular Meeting Agenda .pdf
	20. Lodgers Tax Promotional Funding, Phillips Broadcasting, Radio Advertising.pdf
	4255_001
	long
	4257_001

	19. Amendment to Vigil Maldonado Detention Center Detainee Handbook, Addendum 1.pdf
	19. Amendment to Vigil Maldonado Detention Center Detainee Handbook, Addendum 1
	Detainee Handbook amendment jr revision 2023 11 03 jr revision
	Programs and Services

	4258_001

	18. Task Order #4, Blosser Gap Bridge Replacment.pdf
	17. First Amendment-Colfax County L400592.pdf
	16. Resolution 2023-40.pdf
	15. First Amendment-Colfax County L400578.pdf
	14. Resolution 2023-39.pdf
	13. Claim of Exemption # 5.pdf
	12. Letter of Support.pdf
	Approved in open meeting this 14h day of November 2023.

	11. Indigent  November 2023.pdf
	SEPT.

	09. October 2023 Expenditures.pdf
	08. Proclamation.pdf



